2019

2019 Highlights
KShs

KShs

175.2mn 144.0mn 13%
Net
earnings

Distributable
earnings

Growth in
distributable
earnings

80c

75c

7.6%

15%

33%

KShs

KShs

Investment
property

Cash and
near cash
instruments

Distributable
per unit

Total property
return

11.6%

20.80

Portfolio
vacancy rates

NAV per unit

KShs

3.76bn
NAV

Reduction in
management
fee expenses

3.46bn

Distributable
earnings per
unit

Property
expense ratio

335.0mn
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OUR CORPORATE INFORMATION
REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE REIT
1st Floor, Liberty House
Nyerere Road
P.O. Box 30550 – 00100
Nairobi, Kenya
Tel: +254 20 326 8569
Email: customercare.kenya@stanlib.com

COMMERCIAL BANKER
The Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited
Co-operative House
Haile Selassie Avenue
P.O. Box 48231 – 00100
Nairobi, Kenya
Tel: +254 703 027 000
Email: customerservice@co-opbank.co.ke;
custodial@co-opbank.co.ke

TRUSTEE AND CUSTODIAN
The Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited
Co-operative House
Haile Selassie Avenue
P.O. Box 48231 – 00100
Nairobi, Kenya
Tel: +254 703 027 000
Email: customerservice@co-opbank.co.ke;
custodial@co-opbank.co.ke

AUDITOR
KPMG Kenya
8th Floor, ABC Towers
ABC Place, Waiyaki Way
P. O. Box 40612 – 00100
Nairobi, Kenya
Tel: +254 20 280 6000
Email: info@kpmg.co.ke

REIT MANAGER
STANLIB Kenya Limited
1st Floor, Liberty House
Nyerere Road
P.O. Box 30550 – 00100
Nairobi, Kenya
Tel: +254 20 326 8569
Email: customercare.kenya@stanlib.com

TAX ADVISORS
Viva Africa Consulting LLP
3rd Floor, Kiganjo House
Rose Avenue, Off Denis Pritt Road
P.O. Box 75079 – 00200
Nairobi, Kenya
Tel: +254 20 246 5567
Email: KThuo@vivaafricallp.com

COMPLIANCE OFFICER – TRUSTEE
Henry Karanja
Co-operative House
Haile Selassie Avenue
P.O. Box 48231 – 00100
Nairobi, Kenya
Tel: +254 20 327 6965
Email: hmkaranja@co-opbank.co.ke

COMPLIANCE OFFICER – REIT MANAGER
Evelyne Kinara
1st Floor, Liberty House
Nyerere Road
P.O. Box 30550 – 00100
Nairobi, Kenya
Tel: +254 20 326 8569
Email: evelyne.kinara@stanlib.com
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OUR CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)
COMPANY SECRETARY – TRUSTEE
Christopher Ndoro – Appointed 1 August 2019
Debra Ogada
– Resigned 31 July 2019
Co-operative House
Haile Selassie Avenue
P.O. Box 48231 – 00100
Nairobi, Kenya
Tel: +254 20 327 6474
Email: cndoro@co-opbank.co.ke

REGISTRAR
CDSC Registrars Limited
1st Floor, Occidental Plaza
Muthithi Road, Westlands
P.O. Box 6341 – 00100
Nairobi, Kenya
Tel: +254 20 258 8000
Email: registrar@cdscregistrars.com

LEGAL ADVISORS
Mboya Wangong’u & Waiyaki Advocates
Lex Chambers, Maji Mazuri Road
Off James Gichuru Road
P.O. Box 74041 – 00200
Lavington, Nairobi
Tel: +254 20 216 0312
Email: gmboya@lexgroupafrica.com

PROPERTY MANAGER
Cushman & Wakefield Excellerate
3rd Floor, Grenadier Tower
1 Woodvale Close, Westlands
P.O. Box 1620 – 00606
Nairobi, Kenya
Tel: +254 20 444 2061
Email: Lillian.Mbaabu-Muriuki@cwexcellerate.
com

INDEPENDENT VALUERS
Knight Frank Valuers Limited
Lion Place, Waiyaki Way
Westlands
P.O. Box 39773 – 00623
Nairobi, Kenya
Tel: +254 20 423 9000
Email: info@ke.knightfrank.com

INDEPENDENT VALUERS
Crystal Valuers Limited
Bruce House, 4th Floor
Standard Street
P.O. Box 10205 – 00100
Nairobi, Kenya
Tel: +254 20 331 0202/3/4
Email: info@crystalvaluers.com

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER
Civil Engineering Design (K) Ltd
1st Floor Sri Sathya Sai Centre
Musa Gitau Road
P.O. Box 54531 – 00200, City Square
Nairobi, Kenya
Tel: +254 20 806 8141
Email: info@ced.co.ke

MEP ENGINEER
LDK Africa Limited
9th Floor, Purshottam Place
Westlands Road
P.O. Box 60293 – 00200
Nairobi, Kenya
Tel:+254 20 374 3838
Email: ldkafrica@ldk.gr
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The Chairman’s
Statement

SURINDER KAPILA

Chairman - STANLIB Kenya Limited

On behalf of the REIT Manager’s Board of Directors,
it gives me great pleasure to present the STANLIB
Fahari I-REIT’s annual report for the year ended 31
December 2019.
Highlights
Kenya’s general economic climate remained fairly
stable during 2019 with the GDP estimated to have
grown by 5.9% by the African Development Bank,
down from 6.5% in 2018. Ballooning sovereign debt
continued to be a threat to the economy’s stability.
At 5.2% inflation remained within the Central Bank’s
target of 5% to 5.2%. The Kenya Shilling remained
stable against most major currencies such as the
Sterling Pound, US Dollar, Euro and the Chinese Yuan.
The interest rate cap continued to put pressure on
the economy as a result of significantly reduced credit
to the private sector as banks preferred investing in
government securities. The interest rate cap was
however repealed in November 2019 much to the
relief of banks and the small and medium enterprises
who had endured a three-year credit crunch.
As in the preceding years, the real estate market has
been characterised by oversupply of stock especially
in the retail sector, putting downward pressure on

13% growth in

distributable earnings

rentals. Absorption of space that had been created
by the fall of Nakumat continued throughout the
year. The market welcomed new international
retailers demonstrating Kenya’s attractiveness as an
investment destination. The benefits of the lifting of
the interest rate cap are expected to trickle down to
the real estate sector in the coming years.
For STANLIB Fahari I-REIT, 2019 was a great success
from a regulatory perspective. Years of lobbying
the regulators have finally borne fruit. In November,
the Finance Act No. 23 of 2019 was gazetted. This
Act includes the introduction of section 20(1)(d)
to the Kenyan Income Tax Act to exempt investee
companies of REITs from income tax. This lays aside
years of uncertainty about the tax exemption status
of REIT subsidiaries and aligns the objectives and
intentions of the REITs Regulations with those of the
tax regulations in relation to the taxation of REITs. The
milestone is a win not only for STANLIB Fahari I-REIT
but also for all future REITs in Kenya who will benefit
immensely from the clarity that the new tax provisions
give. Our gratitude goes to the REITS Association
of Kenya who have been our strategic partners in
championing this tax reform at an industry level.

75c
distribution
per unit
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THE CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)

On the business operations front, we completed
the cinema development at Greenspan Mall in May
2019 at an accretive forward yield of 9.4%. Partnering
with the cinema operator – Motion Cinemas to
successfully convert an underutilised exhibition hall
into a modern 3-screen cinema, showcased the REIT
Manager’s property development capability. Motion
Cinemas have signed a 10 year lease. The cinema was
formally launched in October 2019 and is expected to
strengthen Greenspan Mall’s entertainment offering
and to draw more feet into the mall. The cinema is
however not the only capital project undertaken
at Greenspan Mall during the year. We also sank a
new borehole and installed steel tanks and other
accessories. This was to reduce the cost of water
and improve reliability of supply. The cost reduction
benefits were realised immediately.
The net profit for the year amounted to KShs 175.2
million, down 9.4% from the prior’s net profit of KShs
193.5 million mainly due to a decline in fair value gain
on revaluation of property. However, distributable
earnings grew by 12.6% to KShs 144.0 million (2018:
KShs 127.9 million). The growth in distributable
earnings was underpinned by the decrease in fund
operating costs. In light of the significant capital
projects recently undertaken at Greenspan Mall, the
Board recommended, and the REIT Trustee approved
maintaining the distribution at the same level as prior
year. A first and final distribution of KShs 0.75 per unit
will thus be paid by no later than 31 May 2020. This
amounts to a 94% payout ratio.
Coronavirus impact on publishing of the
annual report and the AGM
As a result of the coronavirus pandemic and
the consequential lockdown measures taken by
governments around the globe to slow down the
spread of the virus, it has not been business as usual.
In recognition of the business disruption experienced
during this time, the CMA has granted regulatory
flexibility on the timelines for publishing and filing
of annual reports as well as holding of AGMs to June
2020. As a result, the REIT’s annual report for 2019
will be published by the end of April 2020 instead of

the normal deadline of 31 March 2020. In addition, the
distribution will be paid in May 2020 instead of by 30
April 2020 as in previous years.
The AGM is expected to take place in June 2020. As
the date is not yet confirmed, no AGM notice and
proxy form accompany this annual report. The same
will be published separately at a later stage through
the REIT’s website and in the newspapers. Unitholders
will also be advised via sms and/or email.
Change of REIT Manager
In November 2019, STANLIB Kenya Limited (“SKL”)
together with The Co-operative Bank of Kenya
Limited (“Co-op Bank”) in their respective capacity of
REIT Manager and REIT Trustee issued a joint media
announcement to the effect that SKL had entered
into a sale of business agreement (“Agreement”)
with ICEA LION Asset Management Limited (“ILAM”),
dated 6 November 2019. In terms of this Agreement,
SKL would sell to ILAM certain of its assets which
form a substantial part of the assets of its business
of managing funds, assets and investments of third
parties in Kenya.
The assets being acquired by ILAM include SKL’s
investment management mandates and all rights,
obligations and benefits of SKL in terms of or in
connection with SKL’s role as Promoter and REIT
Manager in relation to the REIT. The transaction and
the app ointment of ILAM as the replacement REIT
Manager have been approved by the Competition
Authority of Kenya and the Capital Markets Authority
(“CMA”). Accordingly, SKL has tendered its resignation
as REIT Manager. Unitholders will be notified of the
effective date in due course.
The ICEA LION Group has a long history of successful
real estate development and investment in the
Kenyan market, which is largely attributable to
employing fundamental analysis in all investment
decisions. As the proposed replacement REIT
Manager, ILAM has acquired deep knowledge and
experience in the real estate sector and currently
manages real estate assets for both internal clients
and third-party assets to the tune of KShs 17 billion.

“On the business operations front, we completed the
cinema development at Greenspan Mall in May 2019 at an
accretive forward yield of 9.4%.”
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THE CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)
These assets include office, residential and other non-traditional real estate assets. ILAM is the lead Property
Investment Advisor for the ICEA LION Group and its property investment management responsibilities
include acquisitions, developments (both residential and commercial), redevelopment and optimization of
existing properties and disposals. The SKL Board has confidence in ILAM’s experience and expertise in real
estate investment management.
Appreciation
On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank the REIT Trustee for all the support afforded us throughout our
tenure as the REIT Manager as well as the strong role they have played in safeguarding the interests of the
REIT securities holders. I also express gratitude to the CMA for the strong support afforded us as we navigated
through the regulatory challenges that come with new investment vehicles in the market.
Successfully establishing the first listed income REIT in Kenya and the whole of East Africa would not have
been possible without the support and continued interest shown by both retail and institutional unitholders
at inception and throughout the existence of the STANLIB Fahari I-REIT; for that we are grateful to the
unitholders. Last, but not least, I would like to thank the non-executive directors for their contribution as well
as the management team for their diligence in managing the REIT’s operations.

Surinder Kapila
Chairman, STANLIB Kenya Limited
Date: 28 April 2020

“The STANLIB Fahari I-REIT aims to provide
consistent income and capital growth in the longterm. Our active management approach targets
quality physical properties within carefully
chosen economically growing nodes.

REIT MANAGER’S BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
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1. SURINDER KAPILA
Appointment date: 30 May 2018
Chairman – Ms Kapila is an Advocate of the High Court of Kenya and a business
law expert with deep knowledge of trade and regional integration having among
others, helped establish the Common Market for East and Southern Africa
(COMESA) Court of Justice and provided technical support to USAID regional
trade team to encourage free movement of goods and trade between member
states. She also has over 30 years experience in governance for banks, bilateral
and multilateral donor agencies, research institutes as well as businesses at large.
In her career, Ms Kapila has held several roles including but not limited to Assistant
Legal Officer for KCB Bank Limited, Legal Advisor and Company Secretary for
CBA Bank Limited, Legal Consultant for World Bank – Agriculture Division, Legal
Consultant for USAID Regional Legal Office and Legal Consultant for International
Centre for Research in Agroforestry (ICRAF). Currently, she is a Development
Consultant.
She is a current board member of International Federation of Women Lawyers
(FIDA) (also former president), FIDA Kenya (also co-founder), Capital Club East
Africa, and the Beth Mugo Cancer Foundation. She is a past board member of
Ecobank Kenya Limited, the East African Building Society Bank, and Hillcrest
International Schools.
Ms Kapila holds a B.A. (Hon) Economics and Political Science degree, a Diploma in
Journalism as well as an LL.B. Public and Private International Law degree all from
the University of Mumbai, India. She also holds an Executive MBA, International
Business Development, and Leadership from Inoorero University, Kenya/CBSSIMI Executive, Denmark. She is also a Chartered Meditator and Conciliator duly
commissioned by the Kenya Institute of Chartered Mediators and Conciliators
and the Mediation Training Institute East Africa.

2. NKOREGAMBA MWEBESA
Appointment date: 8 December 2016
Resignation date: 31 January 2020
Managing Director, STANLIB Kenya – Mr Mwebesa has more than 29 years
of experience in the East Africa Financial Services Sector. His expertise spans
Investment Management, Capital Markets and Securities, and Investment
Banking. Mr Mwebesa is the immediate past Chief Executive of SBG Securities
(SBGS), a licensed Investment Bank in Kenya, Uganda and Rwanda and a member
of the Standard Bank Group. Prior to joining SBGS, Mr Mwebesa had a successful
tenure as the Chief Executive Officer of the Nairobi Securities Exchange Limited
(NSE), the largest securities exchange in the East African Region.
Mr Mwebesa was appointed Managing Director of STANLIB Kenya Limited on 8th
December 2016, however this was his second stint at the helm of this business.
Mr Mwebesa served as the founding Executive Director of STANLIB Kenya’s
predecessor, Stanbic Investment Management Services (SIMS) from 1999 to
2004.
Mr Mwebesa holds an Upper Second Class Honours B.A. Degree in Economics
and Philosophy from the University of Nairobi and an Executive MBA from the
Maastricht School of Management.
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REIT MANAGER’S BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
3. MIKE DU TOIT

Appointment date: 22 February 2006
Non-executive Director – Mr du Toit joined Liberty in 2010. He is the Managing
Director of NSE-listed Liberty Kenya Holdings Plc and Liberty Group’s Regional
Group Executive for East and Central Africa responsible primarily for strategic
growth initiatives, governance and stakeholder engagement. Prior to this he was
Managing Director of Stanbic Bank in Kenya (previously CfC Stanbic) having led
the merger of the Stanbic and CfC Groups. As a career banker, he has extensive
experience in the financial services sector across sub-Sahara Africa having
worked and lived in, amongst others Botswana, Mozambique, South Africa and
Uganda. He is a member of all the Boards of all Liberty entities in the region. Mr du
Toit holds a LIB of the Institute of Bankers (SA).

4. PATRICK MAMATHUBA
Appointment date: 23 March 2016
Non-executive Director – Mr Mamathuba is Head of Alternative Investments and
Portfolio Manager at STANLIB Limited. Mr Mamathuba has 24 years experience in
the investment industry. He joined STANLIB Limited in 1999 and has held various
positions including Bond Trader, Portfolio Manager and Chief Investment Officer.
In his current role he has been involved in establishing and growing new ventures
within STANLIB Limited including the passive funds offering, establishment of
infrastructure capability and seeking private equity partner for the group.
Mr Mamathuba has held the position of Chairman of the Direct Property and High
Yield debt propositions investment committees. In addition, he has chaired the
STANLIB Credit Partners board and is a Director of the Infrastructure Private Equity
Fund 1 General Partner. He is a member of the STANLIB Executive Committee. In
his previous roles he was involved in analysing JSE listed companies and managing
client portfolios exceeding ZAR40 billion. He has also overseen client allocations
to third party private equity funds. Prior to joining STANLIB, he worked at Transnet
treasury and the South African Reserve Bank. Mr Mamathuba holds a B.Com (UCT)
degree, B.Com Honours (UNISA) and is a CFA charter holder.

5. JOHN STURGEON
Appointment date: 30 May 2018
Non-executive Director – Mr Sturgeon is currently a Consultant to Liberty
Holdings Limited in South Africa, responsible for the Liberty Property Portfolio,
Chairman of the Pension and Provident Funds as well as oversight of certain of
Liberty’s non-South African subsidiaries. Prior to this he was the Group Executive
– Corporate Finance and Capital Management for the Liberty Group (2004 –
2017). Prior to this, he was a Consultant to the Standard Bank Equity Fund division
on Management Buyouts and Private Equity Investments (2000 – 2004).
He began his career as an articled clerk with Peat Marwick Mitchell and grew
his financial experience through various positions from Financial and Cost
Accountant to Financial Controller for companies within the Dorbyl Group,
then becoming Group Financial Manager for Calan Limited. From May 1982, Mr
Sturgeon became the Group Financial Director/Company Secretary for Natyre
Limited/Calan Group. Since then, he has held various Financial Director positions
including for Argus Holdings Limited (1993 – 1994) and the Premier Group Limited
(1994 – 1999). Mr Sturgeon holds a Post-Graduate Certificate in the Theory of
Accounting (CTA) from the University of Witwatersrand. He also holds a CMA and
HDip Tax also from the University of Witwatersrand. He is a registered Chartered
Accountant with the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants.
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THE REIT STRUCTURE

Reporting line

Appointments

SERVICE PROVIDERS
•Property Managers
•Valuers
•Structural Engineers
•Legal Advisors
• Tax Advisor
• Auditor

Trustee
Co-op Bank

Appointment

Reporting line

CMA

Reporting
line

NSE

KRA

ne
Outsourced
activities

Institutional & Retail
Investors

REIT Manager
STANLIB Kenya

Providers of operational
services to the REIT for fees

Manages REIT Investments
for management fee

At least 80%
of netincome

100%
Ownership

STANLIB FahariI-REIT
Listed on NSE

>75% of TAV

<25% of TAV

100%

Retail

100%

Oﬃce/Light Industrial

Signature
International Limited

100%

Oﬃce/Light Industrial

100%

Bay Holdings
Limited

100%

Greenspan
Mall Limited

100%

100%

Real Estate Investments

Cash & Cash Equivalents

Starling Park
Properties LLP*

100%

Oﬃce Building

* Greenspan Mall Limited holds 1% of the partnership interest in Starling Park Properties LLP in trust on behalf

of STANLIB Fahari I-REIT. No economic benefit flows to Greenspan Mall Limited as a result of this arrangement.
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1. NOZIPHO MAKHOBA

Acting Chief Executive Officer: STANLIB Fahari I-REIT, and
Chief Financial Officer: STANLIB Fahari I-REIT
Nozipho has 19 years working experience spanning across financial management,
external audit, property investment and corporate finance. In her role as Acting
Chief Executive Officer, she is responsible for driving strategic growth, stakeholder
engagement, financial and risk management, financial reporting and strategic
resource planning.
Before joining STANLIB Kenya Limited, Nozipho worked for the Liberty Group
(South Africa) from 2012 in various areas of the business including Liberty
Properties and Group Corporate Finance where she was instrumental in the
Group’s mergers and acquisition transactions related to property. Prior to joining
the Liberty Group, Nozipho spent six years in the audit profession and five years
with the largest asset manager in Africa - the Public Investment Corporation as
a Finance and Operations Manager in the Property Investment Division. While at
the Public Investment Corporation, she also held non-executive director roles
for various property investment companies including Pareto Limited South
Africa. She holds a B.Com (Accounting) degree and a Post-graduate Diploma
in Accounting, both from the University of Kwa-Zulu Natal. She is a registered
Chartered Accountant with the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants.
2. RUTH OKAL
Property Asset Manager: STANLIB Fahari I-REIT
Ruth has 16 years industry experience and is responsible for optimizing STANLIB
Kenya Limited’s real estate portfolio through market research, data analysis,
revenue forecasting and industry reporting to inform business decisions. She
holds an MA in Property Management and Valuation and a BA in Land Economics
both from University of Nairobi, and has been instrumental in the originating,
negotiating and closing many property transactions. Ruth is both a registered
Valuer and Registered Estate Agent. She has completed CFA Level 1. Ruth joined
STANLIB Kenya Limited in 2013 from Knight Frank Kenya Limited, where she gained
experience within Commercial Agency, Property Management, Valuation, Market
Research, Feasibility Studies and Development Advisory. She is a member of the
Valuers Registration Board.
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THE REIT MANAGEMENT TEAM (Continued)

3. IRENE MALOBA
Financial Manager: STANLIB Fahari I-REIT
Irene has over 7 years of experience in the financial sector. She is adept at
budget forecasting, financial planning, financial reporting and analysis, treasury
operations as well as banking. She is responsible for evaluating the company’s
performance, risk management and financial reporting. Prior to joining STANLIB
Kenya Limited, Irene worked as a Management Accountant at Centum Investment
Company Plc, the largest investment firm in East Africa where she was responsible
for financial reporting and analysis for the Holding Company as well as Two Rivers
Development and its subsidiaries. Before joining Centum, Irene spent over
three years at Equity Group Holdings Limited where she developed her career in
Finance. She was in charge of the finance department of Equity Investment Bank
at the time of exit. Irene holds a Master of Science in Finance from the University of
Nairobi and a Bachelor’s degree in Business Management (Finance and Banking)
from Moi University. She is a Certified Public Accountant of Kenya and a member
of ICPAK.
4. EVELYNE KINARA
Risk and Compliance Manager: STANLIB Fahari I-REIT
Evelyne has 10 years working experience in legal and compliance field in the
financial and capital markets industry across East Africa. Before joining STANLIB
Kenya Limited, Evelyne worked for SBG Securities Limited (a member of the
Standard Bank Group) from 2009 in the Legal and Compliance Department where
she was in charge in overseeing the daily compliance functions pertaining to the
capital markets industry in three jurisdictions where the Company is licensedKenya, Uganda and Rwanda. Evelyne holds a Bachelor of Laws Degree (LLB) from
Moi University.

CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
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STANLIB Kenya Limited, the duly licensed REIT Manager for the STANLIB Fahari I-REIT has engrained
corporate governance as the pivotal framework, through which its strategic objectives are set, attained
and its performance monitored. The Board of the REIT Manager has and continues to put in measures to
ensure compliance with the key principles as set out in the Capital Markets (Corporate Governance) (Market
Intermediaries) Regulations, 2011, the Capital Markets (Licensing Requirements) (General) Regulations, 2002
and the Capital Markets (Code of Business) (Markets Intermediaries) Regulations, 2011 as well as the ethical
standards prescribed in the Company’s Code of Conduct. In any instances of non-compliance, the REIT
Manager takes proactive measures to ensure that the same is remedied as soon as practically possible.
The REIT in its enviable position as the first income real estate investment trust to be listed on the Nairobi
Securities Exchange, has and continues to actively participate in policy review forums as well as other industry
forums aimed at bringing about key reforms, one of the notable contribution includes active participation on
the issue of taxation of Kenyan REITs, this will go a long way in enabling the success of REITs as an investment
product in this market.
The Board of the REIT Manager is committed to the principles of good governance and appreciates the
importance of managing the affairs of the REIT with integrity and accountability to all stakeholders.
The Board of the REIT Manager is responsible for maintaining a system of internal control and for reviewing
its effectiveness regularly to ensure that the assets of the REIT are safeguarded. Further the Board has an
obligation to maintain a reliable system of managing financial information, so that the REIT scheme objectives
of providing unitholders with stable annual cash distributions, improving and maximizing unit value are met.
BOARD SIZE, COMPOSITION AND APPOINTMENTS
The Board comprises of 4 members made up of a non-executive and independent Chairman and three
non-executive directors. The REIT Manager has appointed an acting Chief Executive Officer following the
resignation of the former Managing Director – Mr. Nkoregamba Mwebesa effective 31 January 2020. The nonexecutive directors are required to demonstrate complete independence in character, judgment and action
in fulfilling their duties.
A member of the Board shall retire once they get to the age of 70 years.
SEPARATION OF POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR
The separation of functions between the Chairman (a non-executive director) and managing director
(executive director) ensures independence of the Board and Management.
The Chairman’s responsibilities include leading and governing the Board, setting its agenda and ensuring its
effectiveness. The Managing Director’s roles and responsibilities include the day-to-day management of the
REIT Manager’s business and overseeing the implementation of strategy and policies approved by the Board.
The Chairman is required by the Board to ensure that the Managing Director is able to implement the REIT’s
objectives as agreed by the Board of the REIT Manager.
ROLE OF THE BOARD
The Board offers strategic guidance, leadership and control of the REIT Manager by defining its strategic intent,
its objectives and values; reviews this strategic direction and adopts business plans proposed by Management.
The Board monitors Management’s implementation of the plans and strategies, ensures ethical behaviour
and compliance with relevant laws and regulations, audit and accounting principles, corporate policies and
procedures and the Code of Ethics.
TRAINING AND PERFORMANCE EVALUATION
The Board of the REIT Manager is focused on continued improvements in its effectiveness and corporate
governance performance. On-going training is provided to members of the Board to enable them to fulfil their
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE (CONTINUED)
TRAINING AND PERFORMANHCE EVALUATION (Continued)

duties. New members of the Board are provided with an induction programme, where required, to acquaint
them with the business.
An evaluation is done from time to time to identify any training needs.
The Board reviews its own performance at least once a year to ensure it is operating at maximum effectiveness.
BOARD DIVERSITY
The Board of the REIT Manager has the appropriate
mix of skills, knowledge and experience to perform its
role effectively. The areas of expertise of the current
Board of directors are asset management, strategy,
business management, banking and finance,
economics, marketing, project management, risk
management, governance, legal and ethics among
others. The directors’ biographies appear on page 12
to 13 of this Annual Report.
AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE (ARC)
The Board of the REIT Manager has established the
Audit and Risk Committee (constituted as a subcommittee of the Board). As at 31 December 2019,
the Committee’s composition constituted of three
non-executive directors, the Chairman being an
independent non-executive director. The Chairman
is a non-executive Director.
The mandate and scope of responsibilities of the
committee is aligned with the Capital Markets
Authority’s Code of Corporate Governance. The
mandate of the Audit Committee inter alia includes:
• Internal control and risk management;
• Review of the external auditor’s scope and
monitor their performance;
• Monitoring compliance of the
regulations governing the REIT;

laws

and

• Ensure that the other Board members are made
aware of matters which may significantly impact
the financial conditions or affairs of the REIT.
INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
The STANLIB Fahari I-REIT Investment Committee
(“SFIR-IC”) is constituted by the Board of the REIT
Manager and structured as its sub-committee. The
reporting at the Board is by the SFIR-IC Chairman.
The Committee is constituted of three directors; two
non-independent and the Managing Director of the
REIT Manager.
The mandate of the Committee inter alia includes:
• Review and approve the execution of the
approved investment strategy from time to time.

• Set criteria and targets for investment, including
asset mixes and/or allocations.
• Oversight over the strategic direction of the REIT;
making decisions on purchasing, developing
and selling of properties within the limits of this
Mandate and the CMA REIT’s Regulations
The Committee has an independent role with
accountability to the Board, the REIT Trustee and
unitholders. The Committee does not assume
the functions of management, which remain the
responsibility of the REIT management team and the
executives of STANLIB Kenya.
The Committee held six (6) meetings which
were attended by all the Members in line with the
Committee Mandate.
COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company Secretary is the chief legal and
governance advisor to the Board. She co-ordinates
the Board work plan, meetings as well as manages
communication between the organization and
shareholders.
DIRECTORS UNITHOLDING
Directors can purchase or sell units of the REIT in the
open market. In the financial year under review none
of the directors held REIT units, in their individual
capacity, of more than 1% of the REIT’s total equity.
The breakdown of the directors’ personal unitholding
in the REIT as at 31 December 2019 is as follows:
Name of Director

Number of units held

Patrick Mamathuba

257,000

Mike du Toit
Total

91,900
348,900

BOARD MEMBERS’ MEETINGS
There are four scheduled Board meetings per year.
Ad-hoc meetings can be convened, as and when
required, by the secretary, at the request of the
Chairman.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE (CONTINUED)
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

Below is the attendance roster for the year under review.
Board Member

Classification

6th Mar
2019

27th 12th Apr
Mar
2019
2019

22nd 29th Jul
May
2019
2019

Surinder Kapila

Non- Executive
Chairman

Nkoregamba
Mwebesa*

√

√

√

√

√

√

Executive Director

√

√

√

√

√

√

Mike du Toit

Non- Executive
Director

√

√

√

√

√

√

Patrick Mamathuba

Non- Executive
Director

√

√

√

√

√

√

John Sturgeon

Non- Executive
Director

√

√

√

√

√

√

*Resigned 31st January 2020

7th Nov
2019

RISK MANAGEMENT
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The REITs Regulations require the REIT Manager to
report on identified risks likely to impact on the future
performance of the REIT Scheme and its capacity to
fulfil its objectives.
KEY RISKS
Industry specific risks
As is common in other investment classes, property
goes through different performance cycles and trends
affected by several factors including socio-economic
and regulatory changes. Any changes in property industry dynamics may impact growth trends. However, experience in other markets suggests that I-REITs
that invest in portfolios of high-quality investment
properties provide sustained returns and operating
performance even in a less favourable market environment of slower growth in rental incomes and property values for the industry as a whole.
Title
Weaknesses in land title and rental lease registration
can adversely impact the operations of REIT
Schemes.
All I-REIT Schemes are dependent on the certainty
of the title to the properties and enforceability of
rental lease agreements. Uncertainty of title presents
the risk of (i) delays in completion of the purchase
of properties until titles and leases are regularized,
and (ii) delays in enforcement of lease contractual
arrangements both of which could have adverse
impacts on the business, financial condition and
results of operations of I-REITs.
As a mitigating factor, the STANLIB Fahari I-REIT’s
policy is to conduct a thorough due diligence on
properties to be purchased and to require the current
owners to regularize titles and leases before the
purchases are completed.
Regulatory compliance
One of the key risks that emerged in the Kenyan
property market in 2018 is the demolishing of property
built on riparian land or road reserves leading to
significant financial loss to affected property owners.
As a mitigating factor, the STANLIB Fahari I-REIT
performs thorough due diligence prior to any
property acquisition including compliance with laws
and regulations. In future, greater focus will be put on
ensuring that properties purchased are not built on
riparian land or road reserves.
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Terrorism
The terrorist attack on the Dusit D2 Hotel in Riverside,
Nairobi in January 2019 was another reminder of the
vulnerability of physical property to destruction which
could lead to business disruption and to financial loss.
As a mitigating factor, the STANLIB Fahari I-REIT
ensures that adequate insurance cover is in place to
safeguard against physical damage to property and
loss of revenue as a result of any resultant business
interruption. In addition, security upgrades and
procedures are being undertaken in the vulnerable
properties in the portfolio to minimise the risk of
malicious attacks.
Risks common to traded REIT securities
REIT units traded on the NSE and the prices are
subject to securities market volatility, reflecting
demand and supply conditions, just like other listed
securities. The price obtainable on sale of a REIT unit
on a public exchange can go up or down and may differ
from the reported NAV per REIT unit. The price of the
REIT Scheme units will generally reflect prospective
investors’ confidence in Kenya’s economy, the
property market and its returns, the REIT Scheme
management and interest rates.
Risks associated with the STANLIB Fahari
I-REIT structure
Market risk
The underlying asset value of STANLIB Fahari I-REIT’s
properties may be impacted by fluctuations in supply
and demand for the type of rental properties that
the REIT has invested in. STANLIB Fahari I-REIT’s
reported financial results may be affected by
losses recognised on the revaluation of investment
properties being charged to the profit or loss
statement. The REIT prepares its financial statements
in accordance with IFRS. As currently permitted by
IFRS, investment properties held to earn rentals and
for capital appreciation are stated at annual valuation
performed by independent professional valuers
on an open market value for existing use basis. Any
revaluation surpluses or deficits arising from the
revaluation of investment properties are reflected in
the profit or loss statement.
The REIT Manager mitigates the impact of these risks
on STANLIB Fahari I-REIT’s underlying asset values
and operating performance by applying a careful
investment evaluation process to help ensure that
the seed properties selected and new Eligible Assets
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RISK MANAGEMENT(Continued)
KEY RISKS (continued)
Market risk (continued)
that the STANLIB Fahari I-REIT may invest in the
future are in line with the REIT’s stated investment
philosophy and objectives and meet the minimum
investment return criteria.

and after-tax returns to unitholders. The STANLIB
Fahari I-REIT is subject to the REITs Regulations
and the regime governing I-REITs in Kenya remains
relatively new.

Income risk

Future changes may occur in laws and regulations that
impact the REIT Scheme. Alternatively, there may be
changes to enforcement or regulatory interpretation
of laws leading to changes in the legal requirements
affecting the REIT Scheme.

Rental income earned from, and the value of,
STANLIB Fahari I-REIT’s investment properties may
be adversely affected by a number of factors and
distributions may not be made if the REIT reports
an operating loss. Reduction in reported rental
income and operating profits may arise, for example,
if tenancy agreements of the underlying properties
are renewed at a lower rental rate than the previous
agreement or if the occupancy rate falls. This in
turn, reduces property income and STANLIB Fahari
I-REIT’s ability to recover certain operating costs
such as service charges. Other factors could include
changes in the REIT’s ability to collect rent from
tenants on a timely basis or at all; changes in laws and
governmental regulations in relation to real estate,
including those governing usage, zoning, taxes and
government charges. Such revisions may lead to an
increase in the management expenses or unforeseen
capital expenditure to ensure compliance. Rights
related to the relevant properties may also be
restricted by legislative actions, such as revisions to
the building standards laws or the city planning laws,
or the enactment of new laws related to construction
and redevelopment.
The REIT Manager mitigates the impact of such
factors by implementing portfolio specific strategies
and operational initiatives. These include activities
such as: income flow management; lease audit and
data integrity review; vacancy management and
leasing strategy; review of lease structures; and cost
optimization management. In particular, the leasing
strategy includes procuring of payment upfront and
contractual lock-ins of rental rates and other clauses
in tenancy agreements.
Securities liquidity risk
The STANLIB Fahari I-REIT is the first I-REIT to have its
units listed on the NSE. As with other listed securities
listing and quotation does not guarantee that a highlyliquid trading market for the units will remain strong.
Regulatory risk
Changes to the regulatory framework applicable to a
REIT could impact the REIT’s financial performance

The REIT Manager mitigates this regulatory risk by
participating actively in industry forums to discuss
and debate potential regulatory changes and their
potential impact.
Tax risks
At the establishment of the STANLIB Fahari I-REIT,
the REIT was and still is exempt from income tax in
line with section 20(1)(c) of the Kenyan Income Tax
Act, however, the REIT wholly owned subsidiaries
were not explicitly exempt. In November 2019, the
Finance Act No.23 of 2019 introduced section 20(1)
(d) to the Kenyan Income Tax Act to exempt investee
companies of REITs from income tax. This new
development in the tax regulations removes the longstanding uncertainty as to the exemption status of
the STANLIB Fahari I-REIT subsidiaries.
The Kenya Revenue Authority (“KRA”) is expected
to publish subsidiary regulations or rules within the
Kenyan Income Tax Act to provide detailed provisions
and guidelines on the new section 20(1)(d). In addition,
these rules are expected to result in the REIT’s wholly
owned subsidiaries not incurring any tax liability as a
result of the delay in the introduction of tax legislation
that aligns with the CMA REITs Regulations.
The REIT is required to distribute at least 80
percent of its distributable income to its unitholders
annually. Failure to distribute at least 80 percent of
its distributable income to unitholders, changes to
the interpretation of current tax laws and any new
laws and regulations that may be introduced in the
future could adversely impact the tax liability of the
REIT Scheme. Such changes may reduce income,
distributions and unitholder returns.
The Kenyan Parliament re-introduced Capital
Gains Tax at a rate of 5% effective 1 January 2015.
The KRA has confirmed that organizations that are
exempted from income tax, such as registered REIT
Schemes, will not be subjected to Capital Gains Tax.
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RISK MANAGEMENT(Continued)
KEY RISKS (continued)
Tax risks (continued)
Consequently, the reintroduction of Capital Gains
Tax is not expected to negatively impact the return
and distribution of any capital gains achieved on the
underlying properties acquired by the REIT Scheme,
should it divest its interest in these properties and
realize a capital gain.
The REIT Manager and Trustee mitigates these tax
risks by, firstly, monitoring and taking proactive action
to help ensure that the REIT remains compliant with
tax registration requirements, secondly, ensuring that
at least 80 percent of the distributable income of
the REIT is distributed to unitholders and, thirdly, by
participating actively in industry forums to discuss and
debate proposed changes to the tax legislation. The
REIT Manager is also extensively involved, alongside
industry bodies such as the REITs Association of
Kenya, in lobbying for the required tax reforms
affecting REITs in Kenya to be duly implemented.
Risks associated with the Scheme’s proposed
investment portfolio
Risks arising from acquisition of special purpose
vehicles
The STANLIB Fahari I-REIT has and continues to
acquire investment properties through the purchase
of shares in limited liability companies or partnerships
(special purpose vehicles) that own underlying
investment properties rather than purchasing
the underlying properties directly. As is common
with acquisitions of this type, the REIT’s policy is
to complete due diligence on any such company it
wishes to purchase. Further, the REIT’s policy is to
enter into contractual arrangements that include
obligations for the vendor to identify and settle
liabilities of the target company prior to the sale and
to provide certain, limited, ability for the REIT and the
target company to make claims against the vendors
in the event that they suffer losses relating to preacquisition liabilities and claims that may only come
to light and crystallize after the acquisition.
However, there remains a residual risk that the REIT
may not be able to claim full reimbursement for the
losses that it might suffer in respect of such preacquisition liabilities and claims that are identified
and crystallize after the acquisition because of
contractual limitations and because the REIT may be
unable to collect claim reimbursements on a timely
basis or at all.

The REIT Manager mitigates this risk by ensuring that it
monitors liabilities and claims against the companies
that the Scheme purchases carefully and puts in
place appropriate processes to identify potential
claims, to submit claims and to follow up and collect
such claims.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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PHILOSOPHY
Sustainable development is core to delivering on our growth objectives. Underpinning our corporate
philosophy and growth path is an appreciation that our growth drivers cannot be achieved effectively without
a committed focus to sustainable development.
Our Social and Environmental Management System (SEMS) provides guidance during the investment
decision-making process and on-going management of projects. Compliance with the SEMS is a condition for
all investments.
ONGOING EVALUATION OF ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIAL
The REIT procures the services of an independent environment and social governance specialist to evaluate
and monitor compliance with the REIT’s environment and social standards. The 2019 evaluation was conducted
by Environmental Business Strategies Kenya Limited (“EBS”). The same applies to the previous financial years.
ENVIRONMENTAL DATA
UNIT

2016

2017

2018

2019

ENERGY CONSUMPTION*

KShs

19,123,842

21,781,620

22,041,371

22,893,763

WATER CONSUMPTION*
WASTE GENERATION

m

43,450

44,410
Tonnes

75,912

60,812

Greenspan Mall

720

768

588

614

67 Gitanga Place

N/A

N/A

358

204

*Greenspan Mall only

3
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REFLECTING ON 2019
Greenspan Mall
E&S area

Details

Water supply

Greenspan Mall Limited invested in a borehole and associated infrastructure
including reservoir tanks with a capacity of 228,000 litres, piping, and firefighting
reserve. The borehole was commissioned on 21 January 2019 while the steel tank
followed in May 2019 providing safe, secure and reliable water to the mall. The
mall is thus no longer dependent on a third-party borehole or required to share its
water with the neighbouring community, thus providing it with greater control over
the availability, integrity and safety of water used in the premises. In addition, the
investment has led to a significant reduction in water costs – KShs. 4 million was
incurred in 2019 compared to KShs. 11 million in 2018.

Waste
management

Tenants have been encouraged to segregate their waste at source as opposed
to relying on the waste contractors to do so. As a result, there has been a marked
improvement in the management of solid waste including efforts at segregation and
other housekeeping practices.
Large restaurants have hired an independent waste oil collector to collect and
dispose of used cooking oil, which is considered hazardous waste.

Firefighting
equipment

23 Fire marshals (most of whom employees of tenants) received firefighting training.
The purpose of the training was to reinforce fire response and coordination. The
training covered evacuation procedures, how to extinguish different classes of fire
and First Aid. This marked the first time that Greenspan Mall had invested in the
upskilling of fire marshals and is an example of the level of collaboration occurring
between tenants and centre management.
An emergency drill was subsequently conducted after the training in December 2019
in order to test the capacity and readiness of the fire marshals and security teams to
enforce an appropriate response time by customers and tenants during emergency
situations.

Security

In order to bloster at the mall, Kenyan police commecned dily patrols in late 2019,
over and above the independent security guarding the mall. In case of security
related incidents armed police officers are on standby .

Safety audits

Lift and escalator safety audits continued to be conducted by registered and
approved inspectors. The same applies to fire and workplace safety audits.
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT (Continued)
REFLECTING ON 2019 (Continued)
Gitanga Place
E&S area
Environmental
pollution

Details

Risk management

A risk register has been established to provide for the recording of any health
and safety risk related incidences on the premises. However, an emergency
preparedness and response plan which covers fire, electricity, terrorism, natural
calamities and political unrest is also required.

The challenge relating to the operation of the effluent treatment plant in 2018
was conquered in mid-2019 and the NEMA license regained. Corrective measures
were taken to prevent organic material that hampers the purification process from
entering the effluent treatment plant. The water flow within the plant was also
reconfigured to aid the aeration process and ensure high quality treated water at
the end of the process. Prior to this issue being resolved, a manual waste extraction
process had to be followed.

STATUS ON 2019 PRIORITIES
Property
Greenspan Mall

67 Gitanga Place

Bay Holdings

E&S area

Status

Details

Waste segregation at tenant level

√

Implemented

Complete borehole drilling and tank installation

√

Completed

Consider water harvesting and recycling

x

Ongoing

Link firefighting equipment to new water tank

√

Completed

Emergency/fire drill

√

Completed

Resolve challenges with the effluent treatment plant

√

Completed

Compile the risk register

√

Completed

Emergency drill

x

Prioritised for
2020

Consider water harvesting and recycling

x

Ongoing

Replace asbestos roof

x

Resolved not to
proceed

FOCUS IN 2020
Property
Greenspan Mall

E&S area
Security upgrades including barriers, central management system, PA system
Consider water recycling – grey water reuse

67 Gitanga Place

Emergency drill
First aid training

Bay Holdings

Fire safety policy and rectification of fire safety related issues

REPORT OF THE

REIT MANAGER
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The REIT Manager submits its report together with the audited financials for the year ended 31 December 2019,
which reflects the state of affairs of the REIT. This report has been prepared in line with the requirements of
the Fifth Schedule of the Regulations. The REIT Manager’s report as well as the financial statements have been
approved by the Trustee.
NATURE OF BUSINESS
The STANLIB Fahari I-REIT is a real estate investment trust licenced under the REITs Regulations. The REIT was
authorised by the Capital Markets Authority on 30 September 2015 and became the first REIT in East Africa. It
later became listed on the Nairobi Securities Exchange on 26 November 2015, raising capital of KShs. 3.6 billion.
The REIT’s duration is a maximum 80 years subject to the provisions of the Trust Deed. The REIT Scheme is a
closed ended Scheme and trades as “FAHR” on the Nairobi Securities Exchange (“NSE”).
The principal activities of the REIT include but are not limited to:
• The acquisition, for long-term investment, of income-generating eligible real estate and eligible
investments, but not limited to housing, commercial and other real estate;
• Undertaking of such development and construction activities as may be permitted by the Capital Markets
Act, Chapter 485A of the Laws of Kenya and the REITs Regulations; and
• Investing in cash, deposits, bonds, securities and money market instruments.
SCHEME’S OBJECTIVES AS AT THE DATE OF THE REPORT AND ANY CHANGES SINCE LAST
REPORT
The objectives of the REIT Scheme have not changed since the last report. The primary objective of the
REIT Scheme is to provide unitholders with stable annual cash distributions from investment in a diversified
portfolio of income generating real estate assets.
Further objective is to improve and maximise unit value through the on-going management of the REIT
Scheme’s assets, future acquisitions and the development of additional income producing real estate assets
within regulatory limits.
DIRECTORS OF THE REIT MANAGER
The directors of STANLIB Kenya Limited during the period under review and up to the date of this report were:
Director’s name

Role

Surinder Kapila

Non-executive Chairman

Nkoregamba Mwebesa

Managing Director

Mike du Toit*

Non-executive Director

Patrick Mamathuba*

Non-executive Director

John Sturgeon*

Non-executive Director

Appointment/resignation
date
Resigned 31 January 2020

*South African

ACQUISITIONS
Acquisitions during the period
During the period under review, the REIT did not acquire any eligible real estate assets.
Real estate assets contracted for purchase or sale
At time of report date, no real estate assets were contracted for purchase or sale.
Compliance with Regulation 66
The Scheme completed the acquisitions of the nominated real estate investment (seed assets) within
regulatory limit.
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
ACQUISITIONS (Continued)
Other non-direct real estate assets
Other than the assets mentioned in this report, the REIT does not hold any other non-direct real estate assets.
CONSTRUCTION PROJECT
Details of the construction project
The cinema construction project was completed in May 2019 at Greenspan Mall. The project commenced in
2018 and entailed the conversion of a third floor hall facility set on 6,416 square feet into a three-screen modern
cinema comprising approximately 100 seats each. The cinema is operated by Crimson Cinema Limited who
have extensive experience in running cinema businesses in Kenya. Crimson Cinema Limited entered into a 10
year lease with Greenspan Mall Limited and started operation in the fourth quarter of 2019.
Regulatory approvals
The following regulatory approvals were obtained in respect of the project:
i. Architectural Drawings – Approvals received on 21 June 2018 under reference number CPF-AP454.
ii. Structural Drawings – Approved on 25 July 2018.
iii. National Construction Authority (NCA) Approval – Compliance certificate received on 24 April
2019.
Construction cost budget and variations
Construction cost budget against actual*

Landlord

Tenant

Total

Contractor costs

33,225,175

-

33,225,175

Acoustics panels and carpets
Total approved contractor costs

33,225,175

7,274,825
7,274,825

7,274,825
40,500,000

Professional fees
Total original approved budget

4,909,992
38,135,167

946,455
8,221,280

5,856,447
46,356,447

1st Construction cost variation (a)

3,216,017

-

3,216,017

2 Construction cost variation (b)

5,038,288

-

5,038,288

3rd Construction cost variation (c)

1,250,398

(399,300)

851,098

Tenant relocation costs (d)

879,471

-

879,471

Additional consultant costs (e)

552,012

(29,827)

522,185

359,456
49,430,809

7,792,153

359,456
57,222,962

nd

Lease commission (f)
Revised approved budget
*amounts exclude VAT

a. The first cost variation was occasioned by unforeseen site conditions which required among others the
upgrade of the electrical distribution; relocation of water supply pipes; replacement of roof sisalation;
enhancement of shoring of concrete slab as well as the extra removal and reinstallation of warping tiles.
b. The second cost variation was as a result of the hacking and reinforcement of concrete beams on the
second floor which is beneath the cinema site as well as on the third floor where the cinema is being
constructed to ensure the structure is able to support the additional load being added to it.
c. The third variation resulted from re-measurements of finished items as provided for in the construction
contract. These included painting, aluminium and glass finishes, walling, additional reinforcement and
hacking of floor tiles based on as-built drawings.
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
CONSTRUCTION PROJECT (Continued)
d. These costs relate to the temporary relocation of three tenants, for health and safety reasons, to allow for
the necessary works to be undertaken in the respective tenant premises (as detailed in (b) above.
e. Additional consultant costs are in line with the project time extensions and project variations.
f. Lease commission is payable to the Property Manager for lease broking services in respect of the cinema
tenant.
Expected returns
The cinema construction projected is expected to generate an initial net yield of 9.4% in the first year of
operation after taking into account all project cost variations. Before cost variations, the project was expected
to generate an initial yield of 11.7%.
Performance highlights
Details

2019

2018

% Change

175,228,248

193,491,759

-9%

344,346,639

309,763,210

11%

114,334,308

108,850,390

5%

Fund operating expenses

111,301,743

130,221,511

-15%

Fair value adjustment

31,194,053

65,606,465

-52%

144,034,195

127,885,294

13%

3,456,600,000

3,405,700,000

1%

20.80

20.58

1%

0.75

0.75

0%

Net profit for the year (KShs)
Rental and related income (KShs)
Property expenses

Distributable earnings (KShs)
Market value of property portfolio (KShs)
Net asset value per unit (KShs)
Distribution per unit (KShs)

Net earnings decreased by 9% to KShs. 175.2 million mainly due to a reduction in fair value gain on revaluation
of investment property on the back of a subdued real estate market characterised by oversupply of stock and
continued downward pressure on rentals especially in the retail sector. In addition, Highway House, which has
been vacant since 31 March 2018, experienced a further devaluation as at 31 December 2019.
Distributable earnings however, grew by 13% to KShs. 144.0 million compared to KShs. 127.9 million in the
comparative period as a result of the significant decrease in fund operating expenses occasioned by the
recovery of VAT input which had previously been capitalised to fund expenses. Rental income grew by 11% in
line with lease escalations and as a result of income from the new cinema at Greenspan Mall as well as full
year income contribution from 67 Gitanga Place office building acquired at the end of May 2018. Property
expenses grew by 5% mainly due to recognition of expenses from 67 Gitanga Place for the full year whilst only
eight months were included in the comparative period. In addition, the tax leakage from the provision for
irrecoverable withholding tax by tenants grew by 22% to KShs. 16.5 mln (2018: KShs. 13.5 mln).
Implementing a sound leasing strategy, debtors management, reducing vacancies and cost reduction
initiatives continue to be among the key focus areas of the fund in order to improve returns.
DISTRIBUTION
The REIT Manager has recommended, and the Trustee has approved a first and final distribution of KShs.
135,729,225 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: KShs. 135,729,225). The distribution was
declared out of distributable earnings and met the requirements of a minimum distribution in terms of the
REITs Regulations, which require that a minimum of 80% of net profit after tax, from sources other than realised
gains from disposal of real estate assets, is distributed.
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
DISTRIBUTION (Continued)
The table below outlines the distribution as a percentage of distributable earnings:
Details

2019

2018

2017

2016

Distributable earnings (KShs)

144,034,195

127,885,294

149,113,640

98,000,288

Minimum distribution per Trust
Deed and Regulations

115,227,356

102,308,235

119,290,912

78,400,230

Distribution (KShs)

135,729,225

135,729,225

135,729,225

90,486,150

94

106

91

92

180,972,300

180,972,300

180,972,300

180,972,300

Distributable earnings per unit
(KShs)

0.80

0.71

0.82

0.54

Distribution per unit (KShs)

0.75

0.75

0.75

0.50

Distribution as a % of distributable
earnings (%)
Weighted average units in issue
(number)

The proposal of the distribution by the REIT Manager occurred after the end of the reporting period ended
31 December 2019 resulting in a non-adjusting event that is not recognised in the financial statements. The
Regulations require that the distribution is paid by no later than 30 April 2020. However, due to the extension of
the financial reporting deadline granted by the CMA as a result of the impact of the coronavirus, the distribution
will be paid by no later than 31 May 2020.
TRUST CAPITAL
The REIT has 625,000,000 authorised units at a nominal value of KShs. 20 per unit. Through an initial public
offer that took place in October 2015, the REIT issued 180,972,300 units at a nominal value of KShs. 20 per
unit raising a total of capital of KShs. 3,619,446,000. This has been reduced by transaction costs of KShs.
139,905,255 on issue of units.
DIRECTORS OF THE REIT MANAGER’S INTEREST IN THE ISSUED UNITS OF THE REIT
Director’s name

Number of units
2019

2018

257,000

257,000

Mike du Toit

91,900

91,900

Total units

348,900

348,900

Patrick Mamathuba

GOING CONCERN
The annual financial statements have been prepared using appropriate accounting policies consistent with
those applied at the last report, supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates. The REIT
Manager has a reasonable expectation based on an appropriate assessment of a comprehensive range of
factors, that the REIT has adequate resources to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future and at
least for the next twelve months from the date of this report.
Furthermore, the REIT Manager has assessed the potential impact of the coronavirus pandemic on its ability to
continue as a going concern. Having considered the inevitable economic fallout from the pandemic, the REIT
Manager has a reasonable expectation, supported by the strength of its liquidity, that the REIT has adequate
resources to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future and at least for the next twelve months
from the date of this report.
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
BRIEF STATEMENT OF BORROWINGS AND FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS
The REIT has not entered into any borrowings or financial arrangement in the period under review.
AUDITORS
The REIT’s auditor, KPMG Kenya, continues in office in line with the requirements of the Regulations.
REIT MANAGER’S OPERATIONAL REVIEW
The following operational milestones were achieved during 2019:
• Completion of the cinema construction and handover to the tenant in May 2019.
• Launch of the cinema to the public in October 2019.
• Sinking of a new borehole and installation of a steel water tank at Greenspan Mall to ensure a reliable and
cost-effective supply of water.
• Successful lobbying of regulators on the tax exemption of REIT investee companies resulting in the tax
exemption included in the Finance Bill 2019 as well as the Finance Act No. 23 of 2019.
In addition to the above, the REIT Manager continued to perform strategic and operational functions in
managing the property portfolio and cash reserves in order to ensure effective long term management of the
REIT to deliver investor returns and comply with regulatory and legislative requirements:
• Redefining and implementation of the portfolio strategy, which manages risk through portfolio
diversification and seeks to deliver appropriately risk-adjusted returns through superior asset allocation
and selection;
• instruments, in line with a dedicated Investment Policy Statement (“IPS”), to ensure optimal returns with
minimal exposure to financial-sector risk);
• Liquidity planning (once the cash is optimally invested, sufficient liquidity is available to make payments
when due);
• Exploration of mechanisms to raise additional capital (such as debt financing, vendor placement, and
general issuances of new equity);
• Efficient use of capital at the subsidiary level, through management of capital expenditure to improve
core asset value;
• Deal management - ensuring that risk is managed and obligations are met through to deal execution;
• Investigation of redevelopment opportunities in the existing portfolio to maximise property returns;
• Managing properties in accordance with their specific property strategies (which guide the composition
of tenant mix and execution of leasing strategy) such that net income and capital growth at a property
level is optimised, in a manner that is aligned to the fund strategy;
• Debtors management – implementing stringent debt collection policies and procedures that ensure
delinquent tenants are managed proactively to minimise impairment risk.
• Management of service providers, such that their delivery is aligned to property-level as well as portfoliolevel strategy.
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Debtors Age Analysis
35.0
30.6

30.0

KShs (Millions)

25.0
20.7

20.0
15.0
10.0
5.0
2.2
0.0

Current

2.3

2.5

30 days

60 days

3.0
0.8

GML

0.8

0.2
120 days

90 days
BHL

SPP

0.2
Total

SIL

Tenant arrears (excluding service charge receivable) stood at KShs. 31.6 million at end of 2019 (2018: KShs. 18.5
million). The significant increase in arrears is attributable to two major tenants paying outside of the quarter
within which they were billed, with one of the tenants settling all of its arrears of KShs. 6.4 million two months
after year end. Management continues to engage tenants to ensure collections are received within the quarter
billed.
Lease Expiry Profile by Gross Lettable Area (GLA)
60

53

50

GLA%

40
30
19

20
10

12
1

0

Vacant

2019

5
2020

1
2021

2
2022

2023

2024

4

3

2025

2026

The lease expiry profile continues to be well spread with 79% of the GLA expiring from three years after reporting
date. The spike in 2023 is due to the expiry of the anchor tenant lease at Greenspan Mall.
Vacancies
The total portfolio vacancy rate is at 11.6% while the portfolio target is at 5%.
Property
Greenspan Mall
67 Gitanga Place
Bay Holdings
Highway House
Total weighted average

GLA

Vacant GLA

Vacancy %

155,477

19,894

12.8

41,312

-

-

33,265

-

-

7,638

7,638

100.0

237,692

27,532

11.6
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT (AUM)
4,000

KShs (Millions)

3,000

387

335

1,217

1,173

2,000
2,435

2,460

3,406

3,457

2016

2017

2018

2019

1,000

-

Investment property

Cash and Investment Securities

In 2019 the AUM remained flat at KShs. 3.79 billion (2018: KShs. 3.79 billion) with investment property growing
marginally by 1.5% due to the cinema development as well as the revaluation gain. On the other hand, cash and
investment securities have reduced due to the capital investments (i.e. cinema project and installation of a
borehole) at Greenspan Mall.
CASH & NEAR CASH ASSETS (KShs)
Cash instruments

2019

2018

96,063,143

302,822,720

238,925,753
334,988,896

83,809,515
386,632,235

Cash and cash equivalents
Investment securities
Total

To ensure optimisation of interest income returns, cash from property subsidiaries is swept into the REIT’s
investment account on a daily basis and is then invested in competitively priced cash investment instruments.
In the above table, fixed deposit and all treasury bill instruments that have a maturity greater than 90 days at
inception are classified as investment securities, otherwise they are included in cash and cash equivalents.
Breakdown of Cash and near cash assets
350

KShs (Millions)

300

304

289

250
200
150
100
50

-

34
Fixed Deposit

28

Call Deposit

2018

12

18

Cash in Bank

2019

36
Government
Securities

-
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
CASH & NEAR CASH ASSETS (KShs) (Continued)
Break down of cash and near cash assets (Continued)
Fixed deposit instruments continue to dominate the portfolio with Government securities having matured
during the year hence reducing to nil.
NET ASSET VALUE
Movement in Net Asset Value (KShs)

2019

2018

Total asset value

3,878,449,025

3,852,621,474

Net asset value

3,763,442,849

3,723,943,826

180,972,300

180,972,300

20.80

20.58

Number of units in issue
Net asset value per unit

The increase in total assets and net asset value is attributable to the revaluation gain of KShs. 31.2 million as
well as net operating profit for the year ended December 2019 of KShs. 144 million (net of revaluation gain less
the impact of the distribution paid during the year).
NET ASSET VALUE PRIOR AND POST DISTRIBUTION OF EARNINGS
As at 31 December (KShs)

2019

2018

2017

2016

3,763,442,849

3,723,943,826

3,666,181,292

3,585,541,033

3,627,713,624

3,588,214,601

3,530,452,067

3,495,054,883

Net asset value per unit prior to
distribution

20.80

20.58

20.26

19.81

Net asset value per unit post
distribution

20.05

19.83

19.51

19.31

Yield based on the value of
the unit as at 31 December

8.0%

6.8%

7.0%

4.3%

Net asset value prior to
distribution
Net asset value post distribution

FUND RETURNS
Property returns

10
8.8

Return %

8

7.2

7.5

8.4

8.8
7.6

6.8

6.7

6
4
2

2.0

1.6

0.9

0.9
0
Income Return

Capital Return
2016

2017

Total Property Return
2018

2019

Property is valued once at the end of the financial year by an independent valuer.
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
Investment income return (annualised) (%)
2019

2018

2017

2016

Fixed and call deposit interest
return

8.5

8.6

8.5

9.2

Treasury bills income return

9.3

11.1

10.3

9.3

Weighted average interest
return

8.6

8.8

8.7

9.2

Total portfolio return
9.0

8.9

8.8

8.8
8.6

8.5

Return %

8.4
8.2
8.0
7.8

7.7

7.6
7.4
7.2
7.0
2016

2017

2018

2019

The total portfolio return comprises the weighted average property and interest income return over the
various reporting periods. The average split between property and cash instruments has been 90% and 10% in
2019, respectively (2018: 79% : 21%).
Distributions made for the lesser of 5 years or since the establishment of the scheme
Sources of distribution
(KShs)
Net rental/dividend income
from wholly owned property
companies
Fund interest and other income

2019

2018

2017

2016

230,724,761

201,460,125

184,894,243

190,587,729

24,611,177
255,335,938

56,646,680
258,106,805

99,852,345
284,746,588

111,209,231
301,796,960

(111,301,743)

(130,221,511)

(135,632,948)

(180,422,344)

-

-

-

(23,374,328)

144,034,195

127,885,294

149,113,640

98,000,288

135,729,225

7,843,931
135,729,225

135,729,225

90,486,150

94%

106%

91%

92%

Less:
Fund operating expenses
Interest paid
Total potential distributable
income from current earnings
income
Distribution from prior year
retained earnings
Distribution
Distribution as a % and in
compliance with Regulation
72
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
Management Expense Ratio
The management expense ratio (“MER”) is the total fees and expenses incurred at a fund level expressed as a
percentage of the average NAV for the period under review. The following ratio was achieved during the period
under review and the comparative periods.
Expense ratio
MER (%)

2019

2018

2017

2016

3.0

3.5

3.7

5.0

DETAILED ANALYSIS OF UNITHOLDINGS
STANLIB Fahari I-REIT is trading as “FAHR” on the NSE under the Unrestricted Main Investment Market Segment
of the NSE and may be listed on such other securities exchanges as the unitholders may resolve from time to
time.
The units are registered for trading with ISIN Code KE5000003656, are freely transferable on the NSE, and
bear no restriction on transfer.
Fund Open or Closed Fund, Details of any Restrictions on Applications for Redemption
STANLIB Fahari I-REIT is a closed-ended fund. Its units can only be traded at the NSE. The market price of the
units is market driven and may not necessarily be equal to the NAV of the REIT. There is currently no active
secondary market for a REIT in Kenya. However, the REIT Scheme may undertake secondary offers as and
when the need arises.
Free Float as Required by Regulation 27 and 29
As at 31 December 2019, none of the STANLIB Fahari I-REIT issued units were subjected to any lock-in
conditions. Previously, a three-year lock-in period was applicable to the International Finance Corporation
(“IFC”) held through Standard Chartered Nominees (33.9 million units) and the Liberty Group (26.085 million
units). This lock-in period has since lapsed.
The free float as at 31 December 2019 thus amounted to 100% (31 December 2018: 100%).
Statement of number and type of units outstanding as at the date of the report and last financial
statements
The REIT has 180,972,300 units in issue as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018. The total number of
authorised units is 625,000,000. These have not changed since inception.
Statement of Restriction on Transferability of Units
The units are freely transferable on the NSE, and the Trustee has not imposed any restriction on the transfer of
units. As at 31 December 2019, no units were subjected to a lock-in period.
Details of number and price at which units were issued or redeemed and total value of units
issued or redeemed during the period covered by the report
Units in issue
Units at the beginning
Units issued during period
Units in issue at period end

2019

2018

180,972,300

180,972,300

180,972,300

180,972,300

The REIT has only one class of authorised and issued units. No units were redeemed or issued within the
reporting period.
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
Breakdown of REIT Securities Holdings by Class
The distribution of the REIT’s unitholders as at 31 December 2019 was as follows:
Range

Units

Units %

Unit holders

Unit holders %

371

-

31

0.5

1,951,940

1.1

2,339

42.2

1001-10000

10,229,206

5.7

2,673

48.2

10001-100000

12,125,500

6.7

432

7.8

100001-less than 5% of no. of
units in issue

79,380,983

43.8

65

1.2

Holdings above 5% of no. of units
in issue

77,284,300

42.7

3

0.1

180,972,300

100.0

5,543

100.0

Units

Units %

170,517,700

94.2

8,331,400

4.6

Uganda

563,100

0.3

Others

1,560,100

0.9

180,972,300

100.0

Units

% Holding

Standard Chartered Nominees Non Resd A/C KE11752

33,900,000

18.7

Standard Chartered Nominees Resd A/C KE11401

25,000,000

13.8

18,384,300

10.2

Liberty Group Ltd

7,700,700

4.3

Standard Chartered Nominees Resd A/C KE11443

7,333,900

4.1

Stanbic Nominees Ltd A/C R1018467-C

6,805,158

3.8

5,668,600

3.1

Kenya Commercial Bank Nominees Limited A/C 926A

5,247,934

2.9

Standard Chartered Nominees Non Resd. A/C 9424

5,147,000

2.8

3,500,000

1.9

118,687,592

65.6

Less than 100
100-1000

Total

REIT Security Holdings by Country
The REIT security holdings by country as at 31 December 2019 were as follows:
Country
Kenya
South Africa

Total
REIT Investor Holdings
Top 10 STANLIB Fahari I-REIT unitholders as at 31 December 2019
Holder Names

STANLIB Kenya Limited

One Globe Holdings Limited

BID Management Consultancy Limited
Total
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
CLOSING PRICE HISTORY

3,000

15.00

2,500

13.00

2,000

11.00

1,500

9.00

1,000

7.00

500

5.00

0

9/

29
5/

11/
2

27
5/

8/

23
5/

2/

24

7/
11/
2

Volumes traded (units) in '000s

3,500

17.00

/1
11/ 7
27
/17
8/
25
/18
11/
22
/18
2/
26
/1
5/ 8
24
/18
8/
20
/19
11/
23
/19
2/
27
/1
11/ 9
27
/19

19.00

17

4,000

/17

21.00

17
/1
11/ 6
21
/16

4,500

/16

5,000

23.00

/16

25.00

15

Price in KShs

The REIT daily closing price from inception to 31 December 2019 was as follows:

Volume

Price

The REIT’s closing price at end of year is outlined below:
Closing price per unit (KShs)

2019

2018

9.42

10.95

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The following are connected parties to the REIT, who had dealings with the REIT and the relevant transactions:
(a) Identification of connected parties who had dealings with the REIT
Connected party

Relationship

Transaction

STANLIB Kenya Limited

REIT Manager

Asset management fees

The Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited

Trustee

Trustee and custodial fees

Knight Frank Valuers Limited

Valuer

Valuation

Crystal Valuers Limited

Valuer

Valuation

(b) Connected party transactions – fees paid
Transaction (KShs)

2019

2018

70,000,000

76,588,864

22,290,799

22,712,379

Custodial fees – Co-op Bank

1,329,213

-

Other administrative fees – Co-op Bank

879,883

965,267

1,500,000

2,500,000

200,000

400,000

-

626,400

96,199,895

103,792,910

Asset management fees – STANLIB Kenya Limited
Trustee fees – Co-op Bank

Valuation fees – Knight Frank Valuers Limited
Valuation fees – Crystal Valuers Limited
Valuation fees – Axis Real Estate Limited
Total
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(c) Connected party balances
The REIT had the following cash balances held with Co-op Bank:
Bank account name (KShs)

2019

2018

142,000,000

93,000,000

8,800,000

30,000,000

Investment account

4,932,056

528,520

Rent collection account – Greenspan Mall

4,084,208

2,300,000

Service charge account – Greenspan Mall

6,861,102

5,377,333

463,185

-

1,500,000

1,500,000

391,958

416,980

169,032,509

133,122,833

Units

Holding %

STANLIB Kenya Limited

18,384,300

10.16

Liberty Group Limited

7,700,700

4.26

26,085,000

14.42

2019

2018

257,000

257,000

91,900

91,900

348,900

348,900

Investment account – fixed deposits
Investment account – call deposits

Service charge account – Starling Park Properties
Rent collection account – Bay Holdings
Rent collection account – Signature International
Total
(d) Units held by connected parties to the REIT
Promoter Holdings as at 31 December 2019

Total
(e) Units held by the directors of connected parties to the REIT
Director’s name
Patrick Mamathuba
Mike du Toit
Total

INVESTMENTS IN ANY WHOLLY OWNED AND CONTROLLED COMPANY CARRYING OUT REAL
ESTATE RELATED ACTIVITIES
• The asset known as Greenspan Mall is held within the wholly-owned subsidiary Greenspan Mall Limited.
• The asset known as Highway House is held within the wholly-owned subsidiary Signature International
Limited.
• The asset known as Bay Holdings is held within the wholly-owned subsidiary Bay Holdings Limited.
• The asset known as 67 Gitanga Place is held through the partnership - Starling Park Properties LLP. Starling
Park Properties is 99% owned by the REIT and 1% by Greenspan Mall Limited which holds the 1% partnership
interest in trust on behalf of the REIT.
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
FEES PAID BY THE REIT as per REGULATIONS
Transaction (KShs)

2019

2018

70,000,000

76,588,864

Trustee, custodial and other fees – Co-op Bank

24,499,895

23,677,646

Property management fees – Cushman & Wakefield Excellerate

14,076,899

13,548,533

1,500,000

2,500,000

232,000

464,000

Valuation fees – Axis Real Estate

-

626,400

Structural engineering due diligence costs – CED Engineers

-

1,160,000

110,308,794

1,160,000
119,725,443

Asset management fees – STANLIB Kenya Limited

Valuation fees – Knight Frank Valuers
Valuation fees – Crystal Valuers

MEPS engineering due diligence costs – LDK Engineers
Total
PROPERTIES DETAILED REPORT
GREENSPAN MALL

Greenspan Mall is a modern decentralized mixed-use development, situated on 3.8 hectares (9.5 acres), within
the middle-income area of Donholm approximately 12 km to the east of the Nairobi CBD. The development
comprises a retail centre with a GLA of approximately 16,105 m² (155,477 sq.ft.) with 1,000 parking spaces.
The acquisition price (on 11 December 2015) was KShs. 2,093,576,710.
The property is registered as L.R. No. Nairobi/Block 82/8759 (F1, F2, F3, F4 & F5). It is held as leasehold interest
for a term of 99 years less 7 days, with lease commencement date 1 September 2007 at peppercorn rent, if
demanded. As at 31 December 2019, the property has an unexpired leasehold term of 87 years.
The mall has a parking ratio in excess of 4 bays per 100 m² of GLA, has a captive middle market within the larger
Greenspan estate and offers opportunity to develop an additional 2 acres of vacant land forming part of the
acquisition.
The property presents an ideal location with potential to improve the returns through development of excess
land and reconfiguration of the mall/ tenant mix. Anchored by Tuskys, it offers fast food restaurants and bars,
as well as various service related tenants such as banks, wellness centres, entertainment centres, salons and
small non-branded fashion and apparel component. The anchor tenant occupies 47.8% of the GLA while the
balance is occupied by services, food, clothing and apparel. A newly constructed cinema became operational
from the fourth quarter of 2019.
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
PROPERTIES DETAILED REPORT (Continued)
GREENSPAN MALL (Continued)

Greenspan Mall has a well smoothed lease expiry profile making it easy to manage the tenant mix to optimize
the rental income stream.

Greenspan Mall Tenant Mix

Banks 5%

Education 5%

Vacant 13%

Entertainment 7%

Others 1%

Fashion and Accessories 3%

Telkom 2%

Food and Beverages 5%

Supermarket 48%

General services 1%

Healthcare 8%

Health and Beauty 2%

SIGNATURE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
The property known as Highway House is a three
storey industrial building located in a growing office
node on Pokomo Road, off Mombasa Road.
Highway House is located on L.R. No. 37/157
(Original Number L.R. No. 37/54/18) measuring
0.1089 of an acre with a land-lease term of 99
years commencing 1 July 1956, and registered as
Title Number I.R 22130. As at 31 December 2019,
the property has an unexpired leasehold term of
36 years.
The property was transferred into the portfolio at
a net acquisition price of KShs. 108,717,670 on 30
June 2016.
The GLA is approximately 710 m² (7,638 sq.ft.), with ample covered parking bays. The property is currently
vacant after the previous tenant’s lease expired. Management is working towards finding a replacement
tenant.
BAY HOLDINGS LIMITED
The property known as Bay Holdings is located at
the junction of Enterprise Road and Bamburi Road
within the main Industrial Area of Nairobi.
The property is registered as L.R. No. 209/4125
measuring 0.665 of an acre for a term of 99
years from 1 January 1949 and registered as Title
Number I.R 93022. The property has an unexpired
leasehold term of 29 years as at 31 December 2019.
The acquisition of Bay Holdings Limited was
concluded on 30 June 2016 for an amount of KShs.
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
PROPERTIES MARKET UPDATE (Continued)
BAY HOLDINGS LIMIOTED (Continue)
216,122,547.
The GLA is 2,566 m2 (33,265 sq.ft.) with a covered area for parking.
The building is currently fully let to three tenants; Imperial Bank, Packard Limited and Architecture Supply
Limited.
STARLING PARK PROPERTIES LLP
The property known as 67 Gitanga Place is located
on Gitanga Road off James Gichuru Road in
Lavington, Nairobi.
The property is registered as L.R. No. 3734/917
measuring 0.2830 hectares for a leasehold term
of 99 years from 1 April 2016. The property has an
unexpired leasehold term of 95 years, 4 months as
at 31 December 2019.
The acquisition of Starling Park Properties LLP was
concluded on 29 May 2018 for an amount of KShs.
850,037,500 (including the value of equipment
and deposits valued at KShs. 37,500).
The GLA is 3,838 m2 (41,312 sq.ft.). The property has basement parking.
The building is single tenanted.
SUMMARY OF RECENT VALUATIONS
The investment properties were revalued by Knight Frank Valuers Limited and Crystal Valuers Limited as at 31
December 2019 as well as the prior year. The market values at revaluation are summarized below:
Transaction

2019

2018

2,307,000,000

2,276,000,000

Starling Park Properties LLP

883,000,000

857,000,000

Bay Holdings

233,600,000

232,700,000

33,000,000

40,000,000

3,456,600,000

3,405,700,000

Greenspan Mall

Signature International
Total

Copies of the valuation reports are available for inspection free of charge at the offices of the REIT Manager
and may be inspected between the hours of 09h30 – 15h00, Monday to Friday (excluding public holidays).
PROPERTY MARKET UPDATE
Retail sector
The retail sector remains a tenant’s market with landlords making concessions to retain and attract occupiers.
Rents continue to decline due to oversupply of retail space, subdued consumer spending and growth of
e-commerce. Vacancy rates for retail outlets averaged 20% in the year under review while established malls
remained 90% occupied (Knight Frank, 2019). Despite the headwinds, local and international retailers continue
to make strategic moves in and around the retail centres. International retailers noted include Game, which
opened its third outlet at Kisumu’s Mega City Mall while Shoprite opened two new stores at the Waterfront
Shopping Centre in Karen and City Mall in Nyali. Other mid-scale international brands also opened new stores
in the year. Turkish fashion brand LC Waikiki opened new outlets at The Junction, TRM and Sarit Centre. The
new phase of Sarit Centre also attracted other major international brands such as Swarovski and Miniso.
Turkish footwear and accessories store – Flo opened at The Hub in Karen while American sports and footwear
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
PROPERTY MARKET UPDATE (Continued)
Retail sector (Continued)

retailer – Nike opened a store at Westgate Mall.
Broll (2019) expects the demand for retail space to remain stable and supply to reduce. Knight Frank (2019)
likewise points to the decreased development of retail centres in and around Nairobi citing Comesa Mall in
Eastleigh (280,000 square feet) and Phase III of City Mall in Nyali (50,000 square feet) as projects under
construction. The retail outlook is likely to be subdued in the short run as the sector wades through declining
footfall in the wake of increased competition, reduced consumer spending power and growth of e-commerce.
Office
In 2019, prime commercial office rents remained unchanged at KShs. 130 per square foot per month (Knight
Frank, 2019). This is attributable to the current unfavourable economic condition and oversupply in some
locations. Specifically, in Nairobi rents in Upperhill have been on a downward trend unlike Westlands which has
seen a resurgence. Average rent in Westlands for Grade A office space is approximately KShs. 141 per square
foot per month while in Upperhill it is estimated at KShs. 101 per square foot per month. Westlands is on the rise
due to infrastructure spending on roads such as Waiyaki Way, Waiyaki Way-Redhill Link Road and Ring Road
Parklands connection.
Broll (2019) estimates vacancy rates averaged 17% in the year under review. However, Knight Frank (2019)
notes in the second half of 2019 absorption of Grade A and B offices increased by 41% compared to an 8%
decline in the first half of 2019. This demand primarily arose from the serviced offices sector which includes
co-working and virtual offices. This demand is due to lower operating costs because of lease agreement and
office space flexibility and the opportunity to provide SMEs the chance to be located in prime locations.
Some of the providers include: Workable at Sanlam Towers; Garage at The Watermark Business Park, Mirage
Towers and The Promenade; and Kofisi formerly Eden Square Business Centre.
According to Broll, demand for Grade A office space is expected to be stable while supply is expected to
decline. Amenity rich workspaces are key to attracting and retaining tenants. Despite the weak performance
experienced during the period under review, locations within close proximity to amenities and emerging
business centres performed better. Hence office space should be developed with proximal users in mind and
seek to offer competitive rentals balancing these with good basic offerings.
Industrial
Modern logistics space that is Grade A quality warehouses are scarce in spite of growing demand from
tenants for high specification facilities driven by the growing middle class and changing demographics. This
demand has therefore prompted the emergence of quality supply in several master planned industrial parks
particularly on the outskirts of Nairobi where developers are taking advantage of the new infrastructure
developments, affordability of land and convenience to multiple access points to and from major highways.
Naivasha Industrial Park is such a development. Sitting on 9,000-acres it acquired its first anchor tenant in
December, the Danish Brewing Company East Africa Limited which manufactures Tuborg and Carlsberg beer.
The company is expected to deploy KShs. 4.5 billion to construct an industrial plant in the park. Once the
industrial park is completed it is expected to make Nakuru County a major commercial hub in Kenya. Other
developments include Nairobi Gate Industrial Park, located in the upcoming Northlands City and ALP West on
Tilisi Logistic Park. Broll expects both supply and demand to remain stable.
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
REGULATORY LIMITS
REGULATORY
LIMIT

ACTUAL AS AT 31
DECEMBER 2019

Minimum number of REIT
securities holders

7

5,543

√

Minimum Free Float

25%

100%

√

Minimum Promoter investment
and retention*

25% of NAV

14.42%

N/A

Eligible Investments

75% real estate

90% real estate

Minimum income generation

70% of rental income 93%

√

Maximum gearing

35% of total asset
value

0%

√

Minimum distributions

80%

94%**

√

REGULATION

COMPLIED (√) / NOT
COMPLIED (X)/ N/A

√

*Regulation 74 (minimum retained investments by the Promoter and lock-in period) does not apply to
STANLIB Kenya Limited in its capacity as Promoter as it neither sold nor transferred real estate to the REIT
Scheme within one year of its establishment.
** This is in respect of the proposed distribution to be paid out by 31 May 2020.
CHANGE OF REIT MANAGER
As detailed in the Chairman’s Statement, The CMA has approved the resignation of STANLIB Kenya Limited as
the REIT Manager for the STANLIB Fahari I-REIT and the appointment of ICEA LION Asset Management Limited
(“ILAM”) as the replacement REIT Manager in accordance with the REITs Regulations. The unitholders will be
notified of the effective date in due course.
PROSPECT STATEMENT AND PIPELINE
A property development project utilising part of the vacant land at Greenspan Mall is currently being evaluated.
If considered viable, the project will be implemented.
The change of the REIT Manager as detailed above will provide the REIT opportunity to refresh its investment
strategy and reposition itself for growth.
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
ASSET HOLDINGS VERSUS PRESCRIBED LIMITS
The table below highlights the asset holdings versus the subscribed limits in the investment mandate.
Regulation Regulation
I-REIT Eligible
and
and
Investments
maximum minimum
(Assets) Regulation
limit
limit
65
%
%
If the REIT is an
Islamic REIT
percentage of
Shariah compliant
total. If not 100%
then for each
category set out
below specify % that
is Shariah compliant

N/A

Limit in
scheme
document
%

Date of
most recent
Highest %
% as at the
valuation/s
level during
reporting
and ref.
reporting
date
to report
period
detailing
valuation

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

All direct eligible real estate:
a) Freehold

None

None

None

None

None

None

b) Leasehold

None

None

None

None

None

None

All indirect eligible real estate:
a) Freehold held
through investee
companies or
investee trusts

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

b) Leasehold held
through investee
companies or
investee trusts

None

None

None

Refer to
financials

Refer to
financials

31.12.2019

N/A

75%

None

90%

90%

31.12.2019

None

None

None

None

None

None

5%

0%

5%

0%

0%

31.12.2019

Income producing
real estate
Regulation 65 (6)
Minimum of 75% of
TAV within 2 years of
authorisation
Land and cost
of construction
Regulation 70
Maximum 15% TAV
Cash, Deposits,
bonds and money
market instruments
Regulation 65
(11) Maximum 5%
to single issuer,
institution, or
members of group
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
ASSET HOLDINGS VERSUS PRESCRIBED LIMITS (Continued)

Regulation Regulation
I-REIT Eligible
and
and
Investments
maximum minimum
(Assets) Regulation
limit
limit
65
%
%

Limit in
scheme
document
%

Date of
most recent
Highest %
% as at the
valuation/s
level during
reporting
and ref.
reporting
date
to report
period
detailing
valuation

Wholly owned and
controlled company
which conducts
real estate activities
Regulation 65 (14)
Maximum 10% TAV
with REIT securities
holder consent

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Income producing
assets including
listed shares in
Kenyan property
companies and units
in Kenyan I-REITs.
Regulation 68 (2)
Maximum 10% of
value of investment
and TAV at time of
acquisition

10%

0%

10%

0%

0%

None

For an IREIT that has
converted from a
D-REIT Mortgages or
other secured loans
etc.; authorised
under Regulation
12 provided to
purchasers of real
estate developed
or constructed
Regulation 12

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Other assets
(eligible) include
description

None

None

None

None

None

None

Other assets (not
eligible) include
description

None

None

None

None

None

None
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REPORT OF THE REIT MANAGER (Continued)
MEETINGS OF REIT SECURITIES HOLDERS
The third Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) for REIT securities holders was held on 16 April 2019. The meeting
was quorate with 89.2% of the unitholders (by number of units held in the REIT) present in person or by proxy.
The purpose of the meeting was to:
• receive the Annual Report and the Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December
2018;
• note the first and final distribution for the year ended 31 December 2018, of KShs. 135,729,225 (75 cents
per unit in issue) as recommended by the REIT Manager and approved by the REIT Trustee;
• note that KPMG continue as Auditors of the REIT;
• ratify the remuneration of the REIT Manager for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 as disclosed
in the annual report;
• ratify the reappointment of the REIT Manager for another period of three years effective from 1 October
2018, in accordance with the REITs Regulations.
The above resolutions were passed by the general meeting.
Other than the above AGM, no other meetings of the REIT unitholders took place during the period under
review.
The next AGM is expected to take place in June 2020. The AGM notice and proxy forms will be published closer
to the time.
APPROVAL OF THE REIT MANAGER’S REPORT
The REIT Manager’s report was approved on behalf of the REIT Manager by:

						

Surinder Kapila						Patrick Mamathuba
Chairman, STANLIB Kenya Limited			
Date: 28 April 2020

Director, STANLIB Kenya Limited

REPORT OF TRUSTEES
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The Trustee’s report is prepared in accordance with Regulation 101 and the Fifth Schedule of the REITs
Regulations.
1.

Confirmation of all matters relating to the title particulars of real estate properties and
other assets of the fund

We confirm the below titles particulars for the real estate properties:
• Nairobi Block 82/8759 (No.s F1,F2,F3,F4 & F5) – Property known as Greenspan Mall under the SPV
Greenspan Mall Limited;
• L.R. No 37/157 registered as Title No.I.R. 22130 – Property known as Highway House under the SPV Signature
International Limited;
• L.R. No. 209/4125 registered as Title No.I.R. 93022 – Property under the SPV Bay Holdings Limited; and
• L.R No. 3734/1426 (Original Number 3734/917) – Property known as 67 Gitanga Place under the SPV
Starling Park Properties LLP.
We confirm that the other assets of the fund are as detailed in the accounts.
Details of other matters:
Requirement under the Fifth Schedule

Trustee’s report

a. Any appointment of a secondary disposition There was no appointment to this effect.
Trustee together with details of purpose of the
appointment and of any documents executed
by the secondary disposition trustee
b. Any matter arising during the period which The REIT Manager entered into a sale of business
has been, or should have been, notified to the agreement dated 6 Nov 2019 with ICEA LION Asset
Management Limited (“ILAM”). This was reported to the
Authority pursuant to the Regulations
regulator and the announcement published through
the media to unitholders. The CMA approval was given
after the reporting period via letter dated 27 April 2020.
c. Any failures by the trustee to comply with the There were no failures to this effect.
provisions of the scheme documents, the Act
or the Regulations and action taken to remedy
the failure
d. Any failures by the REIT manager or any other
person to comply with the provisions of the
scheme documents, the Act or the Regulations
and action taken to remedy the failure

The REITs Regulations require that dividend distribution
be done within 4 months after the end of each financial
year. The dividend distribution for year 2018 was
done between 29 April 2019 and 6 May 2019. This was
occasioned by a bank system hitch which was resolved
and the shareholders paid. However, the payments via
cheque were made on 29 April 2019.

e. Any action taken by the trustee during the The assets were safe and there was no threat requiring
period to protect assets of the trust or the the Trustee to take action.
interests of REIT securities holders
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REPORT OF TRUSTEES (Continued)
1.

Confirmation of all matters relating to the title particulars of real estate properties and
other assets of the fund (Continued)
Details of other matters (Continued):

Requirement under the Fifth Schedule

Trustee’s report

f. Meetings of REIT securities holders convened The Trustee convened the 3rd REIT AGM of the securities
by the trustee, resolutions put and the holders on 16 April 2019 at The Auditorium, All Saints
outcome of voting.
Cathedral, Kenyatta Avenue, Nairobi.
•

•

•

•

•
•

The Annual Report and the audited Annual
Financial Statements for the financial year ended
31 December 2018 was tabled and adopted by
the securities holders.
The first and final distribution for the year ended
31 December 2018, of KShs. 135,729,225 (75
cents per unit in issue) as recommended by the
REIT Manager and approved by the Trustee was
tabled and adopted.
The unitholders ratified the remuneration of
the REIT Manager – STANLIB Kenya Limited,
who were paid a REIT management fee of KShs.
76,588,864/= during the financial year ended 31
December 2018.
The unitholders approved the continuation of
KPMG as the REIT auditors having expressed
their interest to continue as auditors. The REIT
Manager and REIT Trustee had no objection of
them continuing as the REIT auditors.
The unitholders also authorized the REIT Manager
and the Trustee to fix their remuneration.
The unitholders ratified the reappointment of the
REIT Manager for another period of three years
effective from 1 October 2018, in accordance
with the REITs Regulations.
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REPORT OF TRUSTEES (Continued)
1.

Confirmation of all matters relating to the title particulars of real estate properties and other
assets of the fund (continued)
Details of other matters (continued):

Requirement under the Fifth Schedule

Trustee’s report

g. Meetings of REIT securities holders convened by
the trustee, resolutions put and the outcome of
voting.

The Trustee convened the 3rd REIT AGM of the
securities holders on 16 April 2019 at The Auditorium,
All Saints Cathedral, Kenyatta Avenue, Nairobi.

2.

•

The Annual Report and the audited Annual
Financial Statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2018 was tabled and
adopted by the securities holders.

•

The first and final distribution for the year
ended 31 December 2018, of KShs. 135,729,225
(75 cents per unit in issue) as recommended
by the REIT Manager and approved by the
Trustee was tabled and adopted.

•

The unitholders ratified the remuneration of
the REIT Manager – STANLIB Kenya Limited,
who were paid a REIT management fee of KShs.
76,588,864/= during the financial year ended
31 December 2018.

•

The unitholders approved the continuation of
KPMG as the REIT auditors having expressed
their interest to continue as auditors. The REIT
Manager and REIT Trustee had no objection of
them continuing as the REIT auditors.

•

The unitholders also authorized the
REIT Manager and the Trustee to fix their
remuneration.

•

The unitholders ratified the reappointment
of the REIT Manager for another period of
three years effective from 1 October 2018, in
accordance with the REITs Regulations.

A summary of the meetings of REIT securities holders called or held during the period, a summary of
the purpose of the meeting, resolutions put to the REIT securities holders and of attendees and

votes cast.

The Trustee convened the 3rd AGM of the securities holders on 16 April 2019 at The Auditorium, All Saints
Cathedral, Nairobi. Attendees to the meeting (as noted at the commencement of the meeting) were 214
unitholders in person and 52 in proxy representing 89.2% of units issued. Resolutions put to the unitholders
were as above and were voted for unanimously.
3. Trustee’s opinion on whether the REIT Manager has managed the scheme in accordance with
the provisions of the scheme documents, the Act and REITs Regulations.
In the Trustee’s opinion the REIT Manager has managed the scheme in accordance with the provisions of
the scheme documents, the Act and the REITs Regulations.
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REPORT OF TRUSTEES (Continued)
4. Comments by the Trustee on the REIT Manager’s report, performance of the REIT Manager or
of any other person or other material matter.
The REIT Manager notified the Trustee of its intention to cease operations as a REIT Manager following a
business transaction with ICEA LION Asset Management Limited (“ILAM”). The process of replacement and
handover to the new REIT Manager is at an advanced stage and the unitholders will be notified once the
transaction in complete.
Signed by

Henry Karanja
The Compliance Officer
The REIT Trustee
The Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited
Date: 28 April 2020

COMPLIANCE REPORT
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In accordance with Regulation 101 and the Fifth Schedule to the REITs Regulations, the Compliance Officer

notes the following for the year ended 31 December 2019:

1. The state of the REIT Manager’s risk and compliance program progressed well during the period under
review. As part of this program and in order to meet the evolving business environment within which
the REIT operates; various processes to reinforce its frameworks, systems, policies and procedures
continued to be undertaken during the said period. Furthermore, leverage from the wider Group’s
frameworks remains a big advantage to the REIT Manager’s from a risk and compliance perspective. To
meet the regulatory compliance obligations, the REIT Manager has ensured that it remains compliant
with regulatory requirements by assessing and reviewing its processes against all applicable laws and
regulations.
2. In addition to the foregoing and in line with the above-mentioned Regulation, the REIT Manager confirms
as follows:
a. Any matter arising during the period which has been, or should have been, notified to the
Authority pursuant to the above mentioned Regulation;
In line with the above-mentioned Regulations and the obligation to report material matters; the REIT
Manager notified the Capital Markets Authority of its intention to transfer the REIT management
business to ICEA LION Asset Management Limited (ILAM). Further and following the Parties reaching
an agreement (under a Sale of Business Agreement); the REIT Manager notified the CMA of the same
and consequently submitted an application seeking approval of the appointment of ILAM as the
replacement REIT Manager.
It is important to note that subsequent to the reporting period, the aforementioned application
proposing resignation of STANLIB Kenya Limited (SKL) and appointment of ILAM as REIT Manager as
well as the proposed amendments to the REIT Trust Deed and REIT Management Agreement has been
approved by the Authority.
b. Any failures by the REIT Manager, Trustee or any other party to comply with the provisions
of the of the scheme documents, the Act or the Regulations and action taken to remedy
the failure;
As a result of a system failure, the REIT paid its dividend to the unitholders up to six (6) days after the
prescribed statutory period. The deadline for payment of dividends was 30 April 2019. The Bank has put
in measures to ensure that going forward such an oversight is effectively managed to avoid any future
recurrence.
c. Any action taken by the REIT Manager or which the Trustee was requested to take during
the period to protect assets of the trust or the interests of REIT securities holders.
Signed by:

Evelyne Kinara
Risk and Compliance Manager: STANLIB Kenya Limited
Date: 28 April 2020

STATEMENT OF THE REIT
MANAGER’S RESPONSIBILITIES
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The REIT Manager is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the financial statements of the
STANLIB Fahari I-REIT set out on pages 61 to 97 which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2019, and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the financial statements including a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.
The REIT Manager’s responsibilities include: determining that the basis of accounting described in Note 2
to these financial statements is an acceptable basis for preparing and presenting the financial statements
in the circumstances, preparation and presentation of consolidated financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Capital Markets (Real Estate
Investment Trusts) (Collective Investments Schemes) Regulations, 2013 and such internal control as the REIT
Manager determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.
The REIT Manager is required to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the REIT as at the end of the financial period and of the operating results for that
period. It also requires the REIT Manager to ensure the REIT keeps proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the REIT and its profit or loss.
The REIT Manager accepts responsibility for the annual financial statements, which have been prepared
using appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates,
in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. The REIT Manager is of the opinion that the
financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the financial affairs of the REIT and of its operating
results.
The REIT Manager further accepts responsibility for the maintenance of accounting records which may be
relied upon in the preparation of financial statements, as well as adequate systems of internal financial control.
The REIT Manager has assessed the REIT’s ability to continue as a going concern and has no reason to believe
that the REIT will not be a going concern for at least the next twelve months from the date of this statement.
Approval of the financial statements
The financial statements, as indicated above, were approved and authorised for issue by the REIT Manager on
28 April 2020.						

						
Surinder Kapila

Patrick Mamathuba

Chairman, STANLIB Kenya Limited

Director, STANLIB Kenya Limited

Date: 28 April 2020

FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

CERTIFICATION OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS BY THE TRUSTEE
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The Trustee has considered and reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the STANLIB Fahari I-REIT
for the year ended 31 December 2019, and certifies, according to the requirements of the Capital Markets
(Real Estate Investment Trusts) (Collective Investments Schemes) Regulations, 2013, that these financial
statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated statement of the financial position of the REIT as at 31
December 2019 and of the consolidated profit or loss for the year then ended.
Certified on behalf of The Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited on 28 April 2020 by:

Henry Karanja
Trustee Compliance Officer:
The Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S
REPORT TO THE TRUSTEE AND
UNITHOLDERS OF STANLIB FAHARI
I-REIT
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Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of STANLIB Fahari I-REIT (“the REIT”) set out on pages
61 to 97 which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the REIT at 31 December 2019, and the REIT’s consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows for the period then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and the Capital Markets (Real Estate Investment Trusts) (Collective Investments Schemes)
Regulations, 2013 (“the Regulations”).
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the REIT in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Kenya, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context
of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

58

|

STANLIB FAHARI I-REIT ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE TRUSTEE AND UNITHOLDERS OF
STANLIB FAHARI I-REIT (Continued)
Key audit matters (continued)
Key audit matters
The key audit matter
Valuation of investment property
(See Note 11 to the financial statements)
Valuation of investment properties
considered a key audit matter because:

How the matter was addressed

is Our audit procedures in this area included, among others:
a. Testing the control over management review of
assumptions used in valuation of investment property.

The REIT owns four investment properties
which represent the single largest category b. Assessing the REIT’s processes for the selection of the
external valuers, the determination of the scope of work
of assets on the consolidated statement of
of the valuers, and the review and acceptance of the
financial position as at 31 December 2019.
valuations reported by the external valuers.
These investment properties are stated
at their fair values based on independent
c. Evaluating the qualifications and competence of the
external valuations.
external valuers. We also read the terms of engagement
of the valuers with the REIT to determine whether
The valuation process involves significant
there were any matters that might have affected their
judgment in determining the appropriate
objectivity or limited the scope of their work.
valuation methodology to be used, and in
estimating the underlying assumptions to be d. Considering the valuation methodologies used. We tested
applied. The valuations are highly sensitive
the integrity of inputs of the projected cash flows used in
to key assumptions applied in deriving at the
the valuation to supporting leases and other documents.
capitalisation, discount and terminal yield
We challenged the capitalisation, discount and terminal
rates and a small change in the assumptions
yield rates used in the valuation by comparing them
can have a significant impact to the valuation.
against historical rates and available industry data, taking
into consideration comparability and market factors.

e. Considering adequacy of the descriptions in the
financial statements, in describing the inherent degree of
subjectivity and key assumptions in the estimates. This
includes the relationships between the key unobservable
inputs and fair values, in conveying the uncertainties.
Other information
The REIT Manager is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information in
the Annual Report and Financial Statements but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work that we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE TRUSTEE AND UNITHOLDERS OF
STANLIB FAHARI I-REIT (Continued)
REIT Manager’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
As stated on page 54, the REIT Manager is responsible for the preparation of the REIT’s consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards,
and in the manner required by the Regulations and for such internal control as the REIT Manager determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the REIT Manager is responsible for assessing the REIT’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the REIT Manager either intends to liquidate the REIT or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The REIT Manager is responsible for overseeing the REIT’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. “Reasonable assurance” is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the REIT’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the REIT Manager.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the REIT Manager’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the REIT’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the REIT to cease to continue as a going
concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with the REIT Manager regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

60

|

STANLIB FAHARI I-REIT ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE TRUSTEE AND UNITHOLDERS OF
STANLIB FAHARI I-REIT (Continued)
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

We are also required to provide the REIT Manager with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determined those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
As required by the Capital Markets (Real Estate Investment Trusts) (Collective Investments Schemes)
Regulations, 2013 we report to you based on our audit, that the compliance reports are in accordance with
Regulations.
The signing partner responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is CPA Jacob
Gathecha - P/1610.

KPMG Kenya
Certified Public Accountants
PO Box 40612-00100 Nairobi, Kenya
Date: 28 April 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Note

Revenue

2019
KShs

2018
KShs

353,886,007

332,249,472

Rental and related income

5

344,346,639

309,763,210

Straight-lining of lease income

12

9,539,368

22,486,262

25,323,607

57,193,985

Other income
Interest income

6

24,996,287

56,433,877

Sundry income

7

327,320

760,108

(225,636,051)

(239,071,901)

Operating expenses
Property expenses

8

(114,334,308)

(108,850,390)

Fund operating expenses

9

(111,301,743)

(130,221,511)

21,654,685

43,120,203

Increase in fair value of investment property
Fair value adjustment to investment property

11

31,194,053

65,606,465

Straight-lining of lease income

12

(9,539,368)

(22,486,262)

175,228,248

193,491,759

-

-

175,228,248

193,491,759

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income attributable to
unitholders for the year
Basic earnings per unit (KShs)

10

0.97

1.07

Headline earnings per unit (KShs)

10

0.85

0.83

Supplementary information: Distributable earnings per
unit (KShs)

10

0.80

0.71

The notes set out on pages 66 to 97 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019
Note
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment properties

11

2019
KShs

2018
KShs

3,456,600,000

3,365,700,000

3,344,314,279

3,262,953,647

Fair value of investment property for
accounting purposes
Straight-line lease accrual

12

112,285,721

102,746,353

Property and equipment

13

15,615,047

5,140,466

3,472,215,047

3,370,840,466

Current assets
Investment securities

15

238,925,753

83,809,515

Trade and other receivables

16

71,245,082

55,148,773

Cash and cash equivalents

17

96,063,143
406,233,978

302,822,720
441,781,008

Asset held for sale

14

-

40,000,000

406,233,978

481,781,008

3,878,449,025

3,852,621,474

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves (Page 63)
Trust capital

18

3,479,540,745

3,479,540,745

Revaluation reserve

19

126,813,287

95,619,234

157,088,817

148,783,847

3,763,442,849

3,723,943,826

115,006,176

128,677,648

3,878,449,025

3,852,621,474

Retained earnings
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

20

The financial statements set out on pages 61 to 97 were approved and authorised for issue by the REIT Manager
and by the Trustee on 28 April 2020 and were signed on their behalf by:

						
Surinder Kapila				
Chairman: STANLIB Kenya Limited

Patrick Mamathuba
Director: STANLIB Kenya Limited

Henry Karanja
Trustee Compliance Officer: The Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited
The notes set out on pages 66 to 97 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Trust

Revaluation
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total

KShs

KShs

KShs

3,479,540,745

95,619,234

148,783,847

3,723,943,826

-

-

175,228,248

175,228,248

-

31,194,053

(31,194,053)

-

-

-

(135,729,225)

(135,729,225)

3,479,540,745

126,813,287

157,088,817

3,763,442,849

Revaluation
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total

Kshs

Kshs

Kshs

3,479,540,745

30,012,769

156,627,778

3,666,181,292

-

-

193,491,759

193,491,759

-

65,606,465

(65,606,465)

-

-

-

(135,729,225)

(135,729,225)

3,479,540,745

95,619,234

148,783,847

3,723,943,826

capital
KShs
2019
Balance at 1 January 2019
Total comprehensive
income
Profit for the year
Transfer to nondistributable reserve
Transactions with owners
of equity
Distribution to unitholders
Balance at
31 December 2019

Trust
capital
KShs
2018
Balance at 1 January 2018
Total comprehensive
income
Profit for the year
Transfer to nondistributable reserve
Transactions with owners
of equity
Distribution to unitholders
Balance at
31 December 2018

The notes set out on pages 66 to 97 form an integral part of these financial statements.		
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations

21

Net cash inflow from operating activities

2019
KShs

2018
KShs

115,335,771

129,843,795

115,335,771

129,843,795

-

(792,989,940)

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of Limited Liability Partnership net of cash
acquired
Additions to investment property

11

(19,705,947)

(30,093,535)

Additions to property and equipment

13

(11,543,938)

(1,589,078)

(155,116,238)

445,190,485

(186,366,123)

(379,482,068)

(135,729,225)

(135,729,225)

Net cash outflow from financing activities

(135,729,225)

(135,729,225)

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents

(206,759,577)

(385,367,498)

302,822,720

688,190,218

96,063,143

302,822,720

Net (increase)/decrease in investment securities
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Distribution paid

18

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

17

The notes set out on pages 66 to 97 form an integral part of these financial statements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

66

|

STANLIB FAHARI I-REIT ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SEGMENTED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

KShs

Office and
light industrial
KShs

237,492,436

94,757,036

-

332,249,472

173,446,800

62,603,161

-

236,049,961

Recoveries

67,264,470

6,448,779

-

73,713,249

Straight-lining of lease
income

(3,218,834)

25,705,096

-

22,486,262

Other income

66,273

481,032

56,646,680

57,193,985

Interest income

-

-

56,433,877

56,433,877

Sundry income

66,273

481,032

212,803

760,108

(94,678,845)

(14,171,545)

(130,221,511)

(239,071,901)

(93,668,950)

(14,103,194)

-

(107,772,144)

(1,009,895)

(68,351)

-

(1,078,246)

Fund operating expenses

-

-

(130,221,511)

(130,221,511)

Increase in fair value of
investment property

79,125,299

(36,005,096)

-

43,120,203

Fair value adjustment to
investment property

75,906,465

(10,300,000)

-

65,606,465

3,218,834

(25,705,096)

-

(22,486,262)

222,005,163

45,061,427

(73,574,831)

193,491,759

Retail

Revenue
Rental and related income

Operating expenses
Property admin expenses (excluding bad debts
expense)
Bad debts expense

Straight-lining of lease
income

Net profit/(loss) for
the year

Fund

Total

KShs

KShs
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEGMENTED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

KShs

Office
and light
industrial
KShs

238,645,936

115,240,071

-

353,886,007

Rental and related income

180,739,594

88,355,460

-

269,095,054

Recoveries

63,709,969

11,541,616

-

75,251,585

Straight-lining of lease income

(5,803,627)

15,342,995

-

9,539,368

Other income

712,431

-

24,611,176

25,323,607

Interest income

385,111

-

24,611,176

24,996,287

Sundry income

327,320

-

-

327,320

(93,267,179)

(21,067,129)

(111,301,743)

(225,636,051)

(93,335,762)

(20,875,605)

-

(114,211,367)

68,583

(191,524)

-

(122,941)

Fund operating expenses

-

-

(111,301,743)

(111,301,743)

Increase in fair value of
investment property

17,097,680

4,557,005

-

21,654,685

Fair value adjustment to
investment property

11,294,053

19,900,000

-

31,194,053

Straight-lining of lease income

5,803,627

(15,342,995)

-

(9,539,368)

163,188,868

98,729,947

(86,690,567)

175,228,248

Retail

Revenue

Operating expenses
Property admin expenses
(excluding bad debts expense)
Bad debts expense

Net profit/(loss) for the
year

Fund

Total

KShs

KShs
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SEGMENTED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

KShs

Office and light
industrial
KShs

2,321,694,181

1,150,494,439

26,427

3,472,215,047

14,694,181

894,439

26,427

15,615,047

2,307,000,000

1,149,600,000

-

3,456,600,000

73,844,344

6,808,117

325,581,517

406,233,978

-

-

238,925,753

238,925,753

Trade and other
receivables

62,836,212

4,452,976

3,955,894

71,245,082

Cash and cash
equivalents

11,008,132

2,355,141

82,699,870

96,063,143

2,395,538,525

1,157,302,556

325,607,944

3,878,449,025

254,594,446

9,458,744

3,499,389,659

3,763,442,849

-

-

3,479,540,745

3,479,540,745

Retained earnings

100,381,159

36,858,744

19,848,914

157,088,817

Revaluation reserve

154,213,287

(27,400,000)

-

126,813,287

71,631,468

30,029,991

13,344,717

115,006,176

326,225,914

39,488,735

3,512,734,376

3,878,449,025

Retail

Fund

Total

KShs

KShs

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property and equipment
Investment properties
Current assets
Investment securities

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND
LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Trust capital

Current liabilities
Trade and other
payables
TOTAL EQUITY AND
LIABILITIES
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SEGMENTED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

KShs

Office and
light industrial
KShs

2,280,554,711

1,090,285,755

-

3,370,840,466

4,554,711

585,755

-

5,140,466

2,276,000,000

1,089,700,000

-

3,365,700,000

60,874,898

46,175,349

374,730,761

481,781,008

Investment property
reclassified as held for sale

-

40,000,000

-

40,000,000

Investment securities

-

-

83,809,515

83,809,515

53,193,777

1,954,996

-

55,148,773

7,681,121

4,220,353

290,921,246

302,822,720

2,341,429,609

1,136,461,104

374,730,761

3,852,621,474

280,220,161

(695,482)

3,444,419,147

3,723,943,826

-

-

3,479,540,745

3,479,540,745

Retained earnings

137,300,927

46,604,518

(35,121,598)

148,783,847

Revaluation reserve

142,919,234

(47,300,000)

-

95,619,234

68,279,539

31,249,938

29,148,171

128,677,648

348,499,700

30,554,456

3,473,567,318

3,852,621,474

Retail

Fund

Total

KShs

KShs

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property and equipment
Investment properties
Current assets

Trade and other
receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND
LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Trust capital

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
TOTAL EQUITY AND
LIABILITIES

70

|

STANLIB FAHARI I-REIT ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
1.

REPORTING ENTITY
The STANLIB Fahari I-REIT (“the REIT”) is a closed ended property investment fund licensed under the
Capital Markets (Real Estate Investment Trusts) (Collective Investment Schemes) Regulations, 2013
(“the Regulations”) and listed on the Nairobi Securities Exchange. The REIT is managed by STANLIB
Kenya Limited (“the REIT Manager”).
The consolidated financial statements of the REIT for the year ended 31 December 2019 comprise the
REIT and its subsidiaries and Limited Liability Partnership (LLP). The address of its registered office is as
follows:
1st Floor, Liberty House
Nyerere Road
P.O. Box 30550 – 00100
Nairobi, Kenya
The REIT wholly owns the following property investment subsidiaries and Limited Liability Partnership
(LLP):
• Greenspan Mall Limited
• Bay Holdings Limited
• Signature International Limited
• Starling Park Properties LLP

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a) Statement of compliance
The REIT’s financial statements comprise the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the requirements of the
Regulations. For the Regulation reporting purposes, in these financial statements, the balance sheet
is represented by the statement of financial position, the profit and loss account is presented in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the source and use of funds is represented
by the statement of cash flows.
Details of the REIT’s significant accounting policies are included in Note 3.
(b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the
measurement of investment property that have been measured at fair value.
(c) Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Kenya Shillings (KShs) which is also the REIT’s functional
currency.
(d) Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
The estimates and assumptions are based on the REIT Manager’s best knowledge of current events,
actions, historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about the carrying values of
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
(d) Use of estimates and judgments (Continued)
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognized in the
period which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
In particular, information about significant areas
of estimation and critical judgments in applying
accounting policies that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognized in the financial
statements is described in Note 4.
(e) Going concern
The REIT Manager has assessed the REIT’s ability
to continue as a going concern and is satisfied
that the REIT has the resources to continue in
business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore,
the REIT Manager is not aware of any material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
upon the REIT’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Therefore, the financial statements
have been prepared on the going concern basis.

(f) Changes in significant accounting policies
The REIT initially applied IFRS 16 Leases from 1
January 2019. A number of other new standards
were also effective from 1 January 2019 but
they do not have a material effect on the REIT’s
financial statements.
IFRS16: Leases
The REIT applied IFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach. The REIT has elected
to apply the practical expedient to grandfather
assessment of which contracts and/or
arrangements contain a lease. The details of the
changes in accounting policies are disclosed
below. Additionally, the disclosure requirement
in IFRS have not generally been applied to
comparative information.
i.

Definition of a lease
Previously, the REIT determined at contract
inception whether an arrangement is or contains
a lease under IFRIC 4 “Determining whether an

Arrangement contains a Lease”. The Company
now assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition of a lease, as
explained below:
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. To assess whether a contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset, the REIT uses the definition of a
lease in IFRS 16.
On transition to IFRS 16, the REIT elected to
apply the practical expedient to grandfather the
assessment of which transactions are leases.
The REIT applied IFRS 16 only to contracts that
were previously identified as leases. Contracts
that were not identified as leases under IAS 17
and IFRIC 4 were not reassessed for whether
there is a lease under IFRS 16.
ii. As a lessee
The REIT has not leased any equipment or
furniture as a lessee. However, the REIT has the
right of use of land on a leasehold basis. The
REIT does not recognise right-of-use assets
and liabilities for such land as the prepayment
of the lease has been capitalised as investment
property and accounted for in line with the
requirements of IAS 40.
iii. As a lessor
The REIT leases out investment property. The
REIT had classified these leases as follows:
• operating leases of investment property:
Notes 3(g) and 23
The REIT is not required to make any adjustments
on transition to IFRS 16 for leases in which it acts
as a lessor.
iv. Impact on financial statements
The adoption of IFRS 16 did not have an impact
on the REIT’s consolidated financial statements
with the only impact being limited to disclosure
requirements where the REIT is a lessor. The REIT
does not have any lease contracts as a lessee.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of consolidation
The annual financial statements incorporate the
consolidated financial statements of the REIT
and all subsidiaries and LLP which are controlled
by it. The subsidiaries are shown in Note 22 to
the financial statements. Control exists when
the investor has the power over the investee,
exposure or right to receive variable returns and
ability to use the power to affect the returns.
The acquisition date is the date on which control
is transferred to the acquirer. Judgement is
applied in determining the acquisition date and
determining whether control is transferred from
one party to another. The results of subsidiaries
and LLP are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the effective date of acquisition
to the effective date of disposal.
The acquisition method of accounting has been
adopted to account for the cost of acquisition of
the investments.
Cost comprises the fair value of any assets
transferred, liabilities or obligations assumed and
equity instruments issued. Any bargain purchase
gain is recognised in profit or loss immediately.
Transaction costs that the REIT incurs in
connection with a business combination, such
as finder’s fees, legal fees, due diligence fees,
and other professional and consulting fees, are
expensed as incurred.
Any contingent consideration is measured at fair
value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation
to pay contingent consideration that meets the
definition of a financial instrument is classified as
equity, then it is not re-measured and settlement
is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other
contingent consideration is re-measured at fair
value at each reporting date and subsequent
changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration are recognised in profit or loss.
The accounting policies used are consistent
within all subsidiaries and the REIT. Adjustments
are made when necessary to the consolidated
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with those of the REIT.
All
intra-group
transactions,
balances,
income and expenses are eliminated in full
on consolidation. Transactions which result in

changes in ownership levels, where the REIT
has control of the subsidiary both before and
after the transaction are regarded as equity
transactions and are recognised directly in the
statement of changes in equity. The difference
between the fair value of consideration paid or
received and the movement in non-controlling
interest for such transactions is recognised in
equity attributable to the owners of the parent.
(b) Financial instruments
(i) Recognition and initial measurement
Trade receivables and debt securities issued
are initially recognised when they are originated.
All other financial assets and financial liabilities
are initially recognised when the REIT becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component)
or financial liability is initially measured at
fair value plus, for an item not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue. A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at the
transaction price.
(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified
as measured at:
• amortised cost;
• fair value through other comprehensive income
– debt investment;
• fair value through other comprehensive income
– equity investment
• fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent
to their initial recognition unless the REIT changes
its business model for managing financial assets,
in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first reporting
period following the change in the business
model. A financial asset is measured at amortised
cost if it meets both of the following conditions
and is not designated as at FVTPL:
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Financial instruments (continued)
• it is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and
• its contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it
meets both of the following conditions and is
not designated as at FVTPL.
• it is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets: and
• its contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
On initial recognition of an equity investment that
is not held for trading, the REIT may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the
investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is
made on an investment-by-investment basis.
All financial assets not classified as measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative
financial assets. On initial recognition, the REIT
may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that otherwise meets the requirements to be
measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces accounting mismatch that would
otherwise arise.
Financial assets – Business Model Assessment
The REIT makes an assessment of the objective
of the business model in which a financial asset is
held at a portfolio level because this best reflects
the way the business is managed and information
is provided to management. The information
considered includes:
• the stated policies and objectives for
the portfolio and the operation of those
policies in practice. These include whether
management’s strategy focuses on earning
contractual interest income, maintaining a
particular interest rate profile, matching the

duration of the financial assets to the duration
of any related liabilities or expected cash
outflows or realising cash flows through the sale
of the assets;
• how the performance of the portfolio
is evaluated and reported to the REIT’s
management;
• the risks that affect the performance of the
business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and how those
risks are managed;
• how managers of the business are
compensated – e.g. whether compensation is
based on the fair value of the assets managed
or the contractual cash flows collected; and
• the frequency, volume and timing of sales of
financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for
such sales and expectations about future sales
activity.
Transfers of financial assets to third parties in
transactions that do not qualify for derecognition
are not considered sales for this purpose,
consistent with the REIT’s continuing recognition
of the assets.
Financial assets that are held for trading or are
managed and whose performance is evaluated
on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL.
Financial assets — Assessment whether
contractual cash flows are solely payments of
principal and interest
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’
is defined as the fair value of the financial asset
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as
consideration for the time value of money and
for the credit risk associated with the principal
amount outstanding during a particular period of
time and for other basic lending risks and costs
(e.g. liquidity risk and administrative cost), as well
as a profit margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows
are solely payments of principal and interest,
the REIT considers the contractual terms of the
instrument. This includes assessing whether
the financial asset contains a contractual term
that could change the timing or amount of
contractual cash flows such that it would not
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meet this condition. In making this assessment,
the REIT considers:
• contingent events that would change the
amount or timing of cash flows;
• terms that may adjust the contractual coupon
rate, including variable-rate features;
• prepayment and extension features; and
• terms that limit the REIT’s claim to cash flows
from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse
features).
A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely
payments of principal and interest criterion if the
prepayment amount substantially represents
unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, which may include
reasonable additional compensation for early
termination of the contract. Additionally, for a
financial asset acquired at a discount or premium
to its contractual par amount, a feature that
permits or requires prepayment at an amount
that substantially represents the contractual par
amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual
interest (which may also include reasonable
additional compensation for early termination) is
treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair
value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at
initial recognition.
Financial assets – Subsequent measurement
gains and losses
Financial
assets at
FVTPL

These assets are subsequently
measured at fair value. Net
gains and losses, including
any interest or dividend are
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial
assets at
amortised
cost

These assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest
method. The amortised cost
is reduced by impairment
Interest
losses.
Interest
income, foreign exchange
gains
and
losses
and
impairment are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain or loss
on derecognition is recognised
in profit or loss.

These assets subsequently
Debt
investments measured at fair value.
Interest income calculated
at FVOCI
at FVOCI using the effective
interest
method,
foreign
exchange gains and losses
and impairment recognised in
profit or loss.
These assets are subsequently
Equity
investments measured at fair value.
Dividends are recognised
at FVOCI
as income in profit or loss
unless the dividend clearly
represents a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment.
Other net gains and losses
are recognised in OCI and are
never reclassified to P&L.
Financial liabilities — Classification,
subsequent measurement and gains and
losses
Financial liabilities are classified as measured
at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability
is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as heldfor-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated
as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities
at FVTPL are measured at fair value and
net gains and losses, including any interest
expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other
financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense and foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also
recognised in profit or loss.
(iii) Derecognition
Financial assets
The REIT derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the financial asset expire, or it transfers the
rights to receive the contractual cash flows in
a transaction in which substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset are transferred or in which the REIT neither
transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks
and rewards of ownership and it does not retain
control of the financial asset.
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(iii) Derecognition (Continued)
The REIT enters into transactions whereby it
transfers assets recognised in its statement
of financial position, but retains either all or
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the
transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred
assets are not derecognised.
Financial liabilities
The REIT derecognises a financial liability when
its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire. The REIT also derecognises
a financial liability when its terms are modified
and the cash flows of the modified liability are
substantially different, in which case a new
financial liability based on the modified terms is
recognised at fair value.
On derecognition of a financial liability, the
difference between the carrying amount
extinguished and the consideration paid
(including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.
(iv) Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount presented in the statement
of financial position when and only when the REIT
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off
the amounts and it intends either to settle them
on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.
(c) Tangible assets
(i) Investment property
Investment property comprises land, buildings
and equipment (such as lifts and air-conditioning)
that is considered an integral part of the building.
Investment properties are held to earn rental
income and for capital appreciation and are
initially recorded at cost, including transaction
costs on acquisition. Additional expenditure on
investment properties is capitalised when it is
probable that the future economic benefits will
flow to the REIT. All other subsequent expenditure
on the properties is expensed in the period in
which it is incurred. Investment property held to
earn rental income and for capital appreciation
and not occupied by the REIT is classified as
investment property.

Investment properties are subsequently
measured at fair value, representing open market
value, as determined by registered external
valuers as at the financial year end. Open market
value is determined by the valuer using a market
approach and cost approach. The market
approach comprises the discounted cash flow
method or a net income capitalisation method.
Refer to Note 11 to the financial statements for
key judgements used in the valuations. Any gains
or losses are included in profit or loss.
Unrealized gains on revaluation of investment
property are transferred from retained earnings
to a non-distributable reserve. Likewise,
unrealized losses on revaluation of investment
property are transferred from retained earnings
and set off against existing non-distributable
reserves to the extent that such reserves are
available for the particular investment property.
Realised gains may be distributed.
In the alternative, any realised gains may be
retained and reinvested in income producing
real estate provided that if they are not invested
within a period of two years of realization, such
realised gains shall be distributed within two
months of the second anniversary of realization.
Investment property held under an operating
lease relates to long-term land leases and is
recognised in the REIT’s statement of financial
position at its fair value. This accounting
treatment is consistently applied for all such
long-term land leases.
(ii) Property and equipment
All property and equipment is initially recorded at
cost and thereafter stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost comprises
expenditure initially incurred to bring the asset to
its location and condition ready for its intended
use.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the REIT and the cost can
be reliably measured. The carrying amount of
the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit
or loss during the financial year in which they are
incurred.
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(ii) Property and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation on property and equipment is
calculated using the following annual rates:
Furniture and fittings
Borehole equipment
Borehole
infrastructure
Office equipment

– 12.5% on a reducing
balance basis
– 10% on straight-line
basis
– 4% on a straight-line
basis
– 12.5% on a straightline and reducing
balance basis; and
– 20% on a straight
line basis
– 10% on a straight
line basis

The assets useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposal of property and
equipment are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are
taken into account in determining operating
profit. Such gains or losses are recognised in
profit or loss.
(d) Impairment of assets
(i) Non-derivative financial assets
Financial instruments and contract assets
The REIT recognises loss allowances for
expected credit losses (ECLs) on:
• financial assets measured at amortised cost;
• debt investments measured at FVOCI; and
• contract assets.
The REIT measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following,
which are measured at 12-month ECLs:
• debt securities that are determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date; and
• other debt securities and bank balances
for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default
occurring over the expected life of the financial

instrument) has not increased significantly
since initial recognition.
Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs,
the REIT considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information
and analysis, based on the REIT’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment
and including forward-looking information.
The REIT considers a financial asset to be in
default when:
• the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the REIT in full, without recourse by the REIT
to actions such as realising security (if any is
held); or
• the financial asset is more than 90 days past
due.
Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of
a financial instrument.
12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that
result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date
(or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months).
The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the REIT is exposed to credit
risk.
Measurement of ECLs
The REIT’s non-derivative financial assets have
short durations. Accordingly, discounting of
cash shortfalls to reflect the time value of money
when measuring ECL’s is not generally required.
Credit impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the REIT assesses
whether financial assets carried at amortised
cost and debt securities at FVOCI are creditimpaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’
when one or more events that have a detrimental
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(i)

Non-derivative financial assets (Continued)
Credit impaired financial assets (Continued)
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.

• significant financial difficulty of the borrower
or issuer;
• a breach of contract such as a default or being
more than 90 days past due;
• the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
REIT on terms that the REIT would not consider
otherwise;
• it is probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or
• the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties.
Presentation of allowance for ECL in the
statement of financial position
Loss allowances for financial assets measured
at amortised cost are deducted from the gross
carrying amount of the assets.
For debt securities at FVOCI, the loss allowance
is charged to profit or loss and is recognised in
OCI.
Write-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is written off when the REIT has no reasonable
expectations of recovering a financial asset
in its entirety or a portion thereof. For tenant
arrears, the REIT has a policy that where a tenant
has absconded, or is declared insolvent, is in
liquidation or has ceased trading for four months
or longer and is thus unable to service the debt,
that such arrears are written off. However,
financial assets that are written off could still
be subject to enforcement activities in order to
comply with the REIT’s procedures for recovery
of amounts due.
(e) Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises gross rental and related
income including all recoveries from tenants,
net of Value Added Tax (VAT). Rental and related
income from investment property is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease.

Interest income for all interest-bearing financial
instruments, including financial instruments
measured at fair value through profit or loss, is
recognised under other income in profit or loss
using the effective interest rate method.
(f) Property letting commission and tenant
installations
When considered material, letting commissions
and tenant installations are written off over the
period of the lease. Letting commissions paid in
respect of new developments are capitalised to
the cost of the property.
(g) Leases
The REIT has applied IFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and therefore the
comparative information has not been restated
and continues to be reported under IAS 17 and
IFRIC 4.
At inception of a contract, the REIT assesses
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. To assess whether a contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset, the REIT uses the definition of a
lease in IFRS 16.
At inception or on modification of a contract that
contains a lease component, the REIT allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of their relative standalone selling prices.
Properties leased out under are included in
investment properties in the statement of
financial position as per Note 11. Lease income
is recognised over the term of the lease on a
straight-line basis.
(h) Finance income and costs
Finance income or costs for the REIT comprises
interest income and expenses. Interest income
is recognised under other income in profit or
loss. Interest expenses for all interest-bearing
financial instruments, including financial
instruments measured at fair value through
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(h) Finance income and costs (Continued)
profit or loss, are recognised under finance costs
in profit or loss using the effective interest rate
method. When a receivable is impaired, the REIT
reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable
amount, being the estimated future cash flow
discounted at the original effective interest rate
of the instrument, and continues unwinding the
discount as interest income.
(i) Non-distributable reserve
The non-distributable reserve relates to items
that are not distributable to unitholders. This
reserve comprises net unrealized fair value
adjustments on the revaluation of investment
property.
(j) Taxation
Tax exemption
The REIT is exempt from income tax as per
section 20(1)(c) of the Kenyan Income Tax Act.
Accordingly, no income tax is accounted for in
the REIT. All income generated and distributed
by the REIT is taxable in the hands of the
unitholders. The wholly owned subsidiaries of
the REIT which are eligible investment assets
in terms of the Regulations are exempt from
income tax in line with section 20(1)(d) of the
Income Tax Act as introduced by the Finance
Act No.23 of 2019. Accordingly, no income tax
is accounted for in these subsidiaries and LLP
from the date of acquisition by the REIT.
The REIT is not liable for Capital Gains Tax on the
disposal of directly held investment properties in
terms of the Kenyan Income Tax Act; accordingly
no deferred tax is provided on the revaluation of
the properties. The wholly owned subsidiaries
of the REIT which are eligible investment assets
in terms of the Regulations are exempt from
Capital Gains Tax in line with section 20(1)(d) of
the Income Tax Act. Accordingly, no deferred tax
is provided on the revaluation of the properties
in these subsidiaries from the date of acquisition
by the REIT.
(k) Dividend distribution
The REIT has an obligation to distribute to the
unitholders, within four months after the end
of each financial year, at least eighty percent

of net income after tax from sources other
than realized gains from disposal of investment
property. The REIT may distribute more than
once annually. Distributions to unitholders are
recognised as a liability in the period in which they
are declared once the amount of distribution
has been calculated.
(l) Trust capital
Units are classified as equity when there is no
obligation to transfer cash or other assets to the
holder. Incremental costs directly attributable
to the issue of new units or options are shown in
equity as a deduction from the proceeds.
(m) Foreign currency
A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on
initial recognition in Kenya Shillings, by applying to
the foreign currency amount the spot exchange
rate between the Kenya Shillings and the foreign
currency at the date of the transaction.
The REIT’s functional and reporting currency is
Kenya Shillings.
At the end of the reporting period:
• foreign currency monetary
translated using the closing rate;

items

are

• non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction; and
• non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items or on translating monetary
items at rates different from those at which they
were translated on initial recognition during the
period or in previous periods are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised to
other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary
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(m) Foreign currency (Continued)
item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign
currency are recorded in Kenya Shillings by
applying to the foreign currency amount the
exchange rate between the Kenya Shillings and
the foreign currency at the date of the cash flow.
(n) Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided
to the chief operating decision maker. The chief
operating decision maker is the person or group
that allocates resources to and assesses the
performance of the operating segments of an
entity. The REIT has determined that its chief
operating decision maker is the REIT Manager.
The REIT operates in the following primary
business segments:
i. Retail – comprising retail outlets;
ii. Office – comprising office buildings and office
parking;
iii. Industrial – industrial buildings such as
warehouses and factories;
iv.Financial assets – comprising at amortised
cost, at FVOCI and finally FVTPL at a REIT level.
In certain instances, a building might comprise
a combination of office and industrial or retail
and office. Where each component is significant
in size for segment reporting purposes, the
building is classified as a combination of
both components; otherwise the dominant
component would determine the classification.
(o) Earnings per unit
Basic and diluted earnings per unit data for
ordinary units are presented in the financial
statements. Basic earnings per unit is calculated
by dividing the profit or loss attributable
to ordinary unit holders of the REIT by the
weighted average number of ordinary units
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings
per unit is determined by adjusting the profit
or loss attributable to ordinary unit holders
and the weighted average number of ordinary
units outstanding for the effects of all dilutive

potential ordinary units, if any.
(p) Fair value
Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date in the principal or, in
its absence, the most advantageous market to
which the REIT has access at that date. The fair
value of a liability reflects its non-performance
risk.
The REIT measures the fair value of an instrument
using the quoted price in an active market for
that instrument. A market is regarded as active
if transactions for the asset or liability take place
with sufficient frequency and volume to provide
pricing information on an ongoing basis.
If there is no quoted price in an active market,
then the REIT uses the valuation techniques that
maximise the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimise the use of unobservable inputs.
The chosen valuation technique incorporates
all of the factors that market participants would
take into account in pricing a transaction.
If an asset or a liability measured at fair value
has a bid price and an ask price, then the REIT
measures assets and long positions at a bid price
and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial
instrument on initial recognition is normally
the transaction price i.e. the fair value of
the consideration given or received. If the
REIT determines that the fair value on initial
recognition differs from the transaction price
and the fair value is evidenced neither by a
quoted price in an active market for an identical
asset or liability nor based on a valuation
technique for which any unobservable inputs
are judged to be insignificant in relation to the
measurement, then the financial instrument
is measured at fair value, adjusted to defer
the difference between the fair value on initial
recognition and the transaction price.
Subsequently, that difference is recognised in
profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the
life of the instrument but no later than when
the valuation is wholly supported by observable
market data or the transaction is closed out.
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(q) New standards and interpretations
New and amended standards and
interpretations in issue but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 December 2019
A number of new standards, amendments
to standards and interpretations are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2019,
and have not been applied in preparing these
financial statements.
The REIT does not plan to adopt these standards
early. These are summarised below:
Amendments to References
to Conceptual Frameworks
in IFRS standards

1 January 2020

Definition of Material
(Amendments to IAS 1 and
IAS 8)

1 January 2020

Definition of a Business
(Amendments to IFRS 3)

1 January 2020

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts

1 January 2023

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Company (Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28).

To be determined

The REIT Manager has assessed that the
adoption of these new standards and they are
not expected to have a significant impact on the
financial statements of the REIT.
4. KEY JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
Key judgments and sources of estimation
uncertainty
The preparation of the financial statements
necessitates the use of estimates, assumptions
and judgments. The estimates and assumptions
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities at the statement of
financial position date as well as affecting the
reported income and expenses for the period.
Although estimates are based on management’s
best knowledge and judgment of current facts
as at the statement of financial position date,
the actual outcome may potentially differ
significantly from these estimates.

(a) Investment property
The valuation of investment property requires
judgment in the determination of future cash
flows and the appropriate discount rate to
discount those future cash flows as well as the
appropriate capitalisation rate. Future cash
flows are based on the budgeted contractual
rental income and budgeted expenditure.
The discount rate and capitalisation rates are
informed by market conditions and unique or
specific attributes of the investment property.
Changes in assumptions of future cash flows,
discount rates and capitalisation rates have a
significant impact on the value of investment
property. Management relies on the use of
experts in determining the market value of
investment properties and interrogates the
assumptions applied by the experts to assess
their reasonableness.
The valuer adopted a market capitalisation rate
ranging from 8.5% to 9.5% (2018: 8.5% to 9.5%) in
capitalizing the future cash flows to arrive at the
market value of the property. These have been
set out in Note 11.
(b) Impairment of financial assets
Critical estimates are made by the REIT Manager
in assessing and determining the impairment
of financial assets. The carrying amount of
impaired receivables is set out in Note 24(b)(ii).
(c) Property and equipment
Critical estimates are made by the REIT Manager
in determining depreciation rates for property
and equipment. The rates used are set out in
Note 3(c)(ii).
(d) Taxation
As disclosed in Note 3(j), the Kenya Revenue
Authority (KRA) provided an opinion on REIT
owned subsidiaries tax exemptions to November
2017 and the Finance Act No. 23 of 2019 further
clarified this issue. The REIT has applied this
policy throughout the period with regards to its
subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5. RENTAL AND RELATED INCOME

Rental income*
Recoveries
Promotional income

2019

2018

KShs

KShs

263,920,053

231,015,569

75,251,585

73,713,249

5,175,001

5,034,392

344,346,639

309,763,210

*The rental income includes revenue from parking and exhibition in addition to the contractual rental
revenue in line with leases.
6. INTEREST INCOME

Interest on fixed deposits and treasury bills
Interest on call deposits

2019

2018

KShs

KShs

22,203,678

35,833,488

2,792,609

20,600,389

24,996,287

56,433,877

327,320

760,108

7. SUNDRY INCOME
Bad debts recovered

82

|

STANLIB FAHARI I-REIT ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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8. PROPERTY EXPENSES
The following items are included in property expenses:

2019

2018

KShs

KShs

26,901,309

33,203,440

Property management fees

14,192,834

13,548,533

Irrecoverable withholding tax

16,471,895

13,484,433

13,060,748

9,971,938

9,597,276

8,052,543

Security

8,359,000

7,952,000

Insurance

5,902,099

4,819,957

Advertising and sales promotion

4,729,637

4,407,773

Waste removal

2,032,200

-

Property valuation fees

1,732,000

3,139,000

Letting fees

1,599,297

810,494

Legal and professional fees

683,800

360,000

Environmental audit

190,400

-

Licences and permits

152,000

-

122,941

1,078,246

105,727,436

100,828,357

3,188,995

3,064,900

723,261

688,820

1,110,780

2,053,172

1,066,284

617,341

Sundry expenses

631,908

311,550

Cinema launch expenses

566,592

-

Other professional fees

451,146

605,323

Rent and rates

418,170

277,442

Postage and telephone

183,495

157,727

Bank charges

77,253

82,002

Staff expenses

61,078

24,395

Printing and stationery

59,046

48,361

Subscription

48,732

78,207

Penalties

20,132

12,793

8,606,872

8,022,033

114,334,308

108,850,390

Property administration expenses
Electricity and water

Gardening and cleaning
Repairs and maintenance

Movement in bad debts provision
Other operating property expenses
Audit fees– current period
– service charge audit
Consultancy fees
Depreciation
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
9.

FUND OPERATING EXPENSES

2019

2018

KShs

KShs

70,000,000

76,588,864

Trustee fees

23,620,012

22,712,379

Public relations and marketing

8,400,453

9,468,899

Professional and other fees

4,085,897

8,179,106

Audit fees

3,060,750

3,381,400

Licenses

1,505,523

1,580,159

Business acquisition expenses

300,000

8,268,924

277,850

-

Consultancy

25,485

-

Sundry expenses

12,500

9,280

Bank charges

10,200

12,500

Depreciation

3,073

-

-

20,000

111,301,743

130,221,511

The following items are included in fund operating expenses:
Asset management fees

Legal fees

Penalties
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10. BASIC AND HEADLINE EARNINGS PER UNIT
2019

2018

KShs

KShs

175,228,248

193,491,759

Fair value adjustment to investment properties
(including straight-line lease accrual movement)

(21,654,685)

(43,120,203)

Headline earnings

153,573,563

150,371,556

(9,539,368)

(22,486,262)

Distributable earnings

144,034,195

127,885,294

Distribution to unitholders (Note 18)

135,729,225

135,729,225

Distributable earnings per unit (KShs)

0.80

0.71

Distribution per unit (KShs)

0.75

0.75

Basic earnings and diluted earnings per unit (KShs)

0.97

1.07

Headline earnings per unit (KShs)

0.85

0.83

180,972,300

180,972,300

180,972,300

180,972,300

2019

2018

KShs

KShs

3,365,700,000

2,460,000,000

19,705,947

29,389,403

- acquisitions

-

850,000,000

- capital expenditure

-

704,132

31,194,053

65,606,465

40,000,000

-

-

(40,000,000)

3,456,600,000

3,365,700,000

Basic earnings – comprehensive income attributable to
unit holders for the period
Adjusted for:

Adjusted for:
Straight-line lease accrual movement

Weighted average units in issue (units)
Units in issue at the end of the period (units)
11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

At 1 January
Additions - development expenditure

Fair value adjustment to investment properties
Transfer from asset held for sale (Note 14)
Transfer to asset held for sale (Note 14)
At 31 December

The investment properties were independently valued by Knight Frank Valuers Limited who valued three
of the properties in the portfolio as well as Crystal Valuers Limited who valued one of the properties in the
portfolio as at 31 December 2019. The valuers also valued the properties in the previous year. The valuers
are registered and licensed by the Valuers Registration Board of Kenya and have the relevant experience
and knowledge of valuing the various properties in the portfolio.
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11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
In determining the market value of the investment properties, the valuers used the discounted cash flow
methodology where a discount rate (capitalisation rate) is applied to a series of cash flows for future
periods to discount them to a present value.
The valuers also used the cost approach. This approach is based on the principle that the price that a
buyer in the market would pay for the asset being valued would, unless undue time, inconvenience, risk or
other factors are involved, be not more than the cost to purchase or construct an equivalent asset. Cost
of land was based on the market rates prevailing in the areas of study. Cost of construction was obtained
from cost manuals as provided by quantity surveyors.
Unobservable inputs
At the reporting date the following assumptions and unobservable inputs had been applied by the valuer
in determining the fair value of the property portfolio:
2019

2018

%

%

Term yield

9.50

9.50

Reversionary yield

11.00

11.50

Discount rate

9.50

9.50

8.50 – 9.00

8.50 – 9.00

9.00 – 10.58

9.00 – 10.75

8.50 – 9.00

8.50 – 9.00

Retail sector

Office and light industrial
Term yield
Reversionary yield
Discount rate

The capitalisation rates were computed by the valuer taking into account the market data obtained from
the field research undertaken, including comparable sales. This was adjusted to reflect the term and
reversion based on the property lettings.
12. STRAIGHT-LINE LEASE ACCRUAL

At 1 January
Change in straight-line lease accrual through profit or loss
At 31 December

2019

2018

KShs

KShs

102,746,353

80,260,091

9,539,368

22,486,262

112,285,721

102,746,353

The straight-line lease income accrual relates to the smoothing of the lease rental income over the
contract period of the leases.
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13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
2019

Furniture
and
equipment
KShs

Other
equipment

Total

KShs

KShs

5,442,382

1,629,831

7,072,213

-

11,543,938

11,543,938

5,442,382

13,173,769

18,616,151

1,826,748

104,999

1,931,747

451,954

617,403

1,069,357

At end of year

2,278,702

722,402

3,001,104

Net book value as at 31 December 2019

3,163,680

12,451,367

15,615,047

Furniture
and
equipment
KShs

Other
equipment

Total

KShs

KShs

5,442,382

10,753

5,453,135

Additions from acquisition of subsidiary

-

30,000

30,000

Additions

-

1,589,078

1,589,078

5,442,382

1,629,831

7,072,213

1,310,229

4,177

1,314,406

516,519

100,822

617,341

At end of year

1,826,748

104,999

1,931,747

Net book value as at 31 December 2018

3,615,634

1,524,832

5,140,466

Cost
At start of the year
Additions
At end of year
Accumulated depreciation
At start of year
Charge for the year

2018

Cost
At start of the year

At end of year
Accumulated depreciation
At start of year
Charge for the year
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14. ASSET HELD FOR SALE
In November 2018, REIT Manager and the Trustee committed to a plan to sell the investment property.
Accordingly, the property was presented as an asset held for sale in the 2018 financial year. During the year,
the strategy changed from sale to letting. As a result, the property has been reclassified as investment
property.
2019
KShs

2018
KShs

40,000,000

-

(40,000,000)

-

Transfer from investment property (Note 11)

-

40,000,000

At 31 December

-

40,000,000

238,925,753

47,326,959

-

36,482,556

238,925,753

83,809,515

At 1 January
Transfer to investment property (Note 11)

15. INVESTMENT SECURITIES
Fixed deposits
Government securities

Fixed deposits included in investment securities include fixed deposits with original maturities longer
than 90 days. Fixed deposits are invested in top tier banks. Government securities relate to treasury bills
held with the government of Kenya.
16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2019
KShs

2018
KShs

Trade receivables

31,556,505

18,520,713

Service charge debtors

16,330,081

14,251,866

Less: Provision for doubtful debts

(3,387,251)

(3,477,170)

44,499,335

29,295,409

Value Added Tax (VAT) receivable

13,481,626

11,101,692

Prepayments

5,168,969

7,142,856

Sundry debtors

8,095,152

7,608,816

71,245,082

55,148,773

Net trade receivables

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate their fair value due to the shortterm nature of these financial assets and liabilities. All amounts under trade and other receivables are
denominated in Kenya Shillings.
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17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2019
KShs

2018
KShs

50,163,013

256,693,524

Call deposits

27,604,800

33,699,199

Cash at bank

18,232,508

12,426,206

Cash at hand

62,822

3,791

96,063,143

302,822,720

Fixed deposits

Fixed deposits included in cash and cash equivalents include fixed deposits with original maturities of
90 days or less. Fixed and call deposits are invested with top tier banks. For the purposes of the cash
flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprises of cash in hand and deposits held with banks with
maturities as described above.
18. TRUST CAPITAL
2019
KShs

2018
KShs

12,500,000,000

12,500,000,000

3,479,540,745

3,479,540,745

(a) Authorised
625,000,000 units at a nominal value of KShs. 20 per unit
less capitalised unit issue costs
(b) Issued and paid
180,972,300 units at a nominal value of KShs. 20 per unit net
of unit issue costs of KShs. 139,905,255

The issued units are under the control of the REIT Manager and the Trustee, subject to the provisions of

the Trust Deed, the Regulations and the Listing Requirements of the Nairobi Securities Exchange.
Distribution

On 16 April 2019, the unitholders approved the declaration and payment of a distribution of KShs.
135,729,225 in relation to the year ended 31 December 2018.
After the reporting date for the year ended 31 December 2019, the following distribution was
recommended by the REIT Manager and approved by the Trustee:

KShs 0.75 (2018: KShs. 0.75) distribution per qualifying unit

2019
KShs

2018
KShs

135,729,225

135,729,225

The distribution of KShs. 135,729,225 has not been recognised as a liability as at 31 December 2019 as it
was declared after the end of the financial reporting period (2018: KShs. 135,729,225).
The unitholders are entitled to receive a distribution as declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per unit at general meetings of the REIT. All unitholders rank equally with regard to the REIT’s residual
assets.
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19. REVALUATION RESERVE
2019
KShs

2018
KShs

At 1 January

95,619,234

30,012,769

Fair value adjustment on investment properties (Note 11)

31,194,053

65,606,465

126,813,287

95,619,234

At 31 December

The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation surplus and deficit on investment properties. The
reserve is non-distributable.
20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2019
KShs

2018
KShs

Trade payables

8,248,003

8,947,842

Tenant deposits

58,663,694

51,747,592

Accruals

35,112,282

55,066,097

Other payables

12,982,196

12,916,117

115,006,176

128,677,648

175,228,248

193,491,759

1,069,357

617,341

(31,194,053)

(65,606,465)

145,103,552

128,502,635

(16,096,309)

25,587,370

(13,671,472)

(24,246,210)

(29,767,781)
115,335,771

1,341,160
129,843,795

21. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
Net profit for the year
Adjusted for:
Depreciation (Note 13)
Fair value adjustment to investment property (Note 11)

Working capital changes in:
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

Cash generated from operations
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22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(a) Identification of related parties
STANLIB Kenya Limited is the authorised Manager of the REIT in terms of the Regulations and the Trust
Deed. STANLIB Kenya Limited also played the role of Promoter of the REIT ahead of its listing on the
Nairobi Securities Exchange. STANLIB Kenya Limited is part of the Liberty Group, a financial services
group based in South Africa, with a strong focus in life insurance, asset management, and short-term
insurance businesses in South Africa and the rest of Africa. STANLIB Kenya Limited is 100% owned by
Liberty Holdings Limited.
The Co-operative Bank Kenya Limited is the authorised Trustee of the REIT in terms of the Regulations and
the Trust Deed.
As disclosed in the information memorandum of the REIT, the REIT Manager and Trustee earn a
management fee and custodial fee respectively, for services rendered to the REIT.
The REIT has invested in the entities below which are wholly owned subsidiaries and Limited Liability
Partnership (LLP):
i.

Greenspan Mall Limited

ii.

Bay Holdings Limited

iii. Signature International Limited
iv. Starling Park Properties LLP
(b) Related party transactions

Asset management fee paid to STANLIB Kenya Limited
Trustee and custodial fees paid to Co-operative Bank Kenya
Limited
Other administration fees paid to Co-operative Bank of Kenya
Limited for cheque writing fees
Bank charges

2019
KShs

2018
KShs

70,000,000

76,588,864

23,620,012

22,712,379

879,883

884,915

87,453

80,352

All related party transactions were done on an arm’s length basis.
STANLIB Kenya Limited and Liberty Group Limited held the following units in the REIT as at 31 December
2019 and 31 December 2018. These were previously subjected to a three year lock-in period which expired
at end of 2018.
Holder’s name

Number of
units

% Holding

STANLIB Kenya Limited

18,384,300

10.16

Liberty Group Limited

7,700,700

4.26

26,085,000

14.42

Total
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22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (Continued)
c) Related party balances
At 31 December, the REIT had the following cash balances held with The Co-operative Bank of Kenya
Limited:
Bank account name

Entity

2019
KShs

2018
KShs

Investment account - fixed deposits

REIT

142,000,000

93,000,000

Investment account - call deposits

REIT

8,800,000

30,000,000

Investment account

REIT

4,932,056

528,520

STANLIB REIT Rent Coll A/C - Greenspan
Mall

Greenspan Mall
Limited

4,084,208

2,300,000

Excellerate Kenya Greenspan Mall
Account

Greenspan Mall
Limited

6,861,102

5,377,333

Starling Park Service charge account

Starling Park
Properties LLP

463,184

-

STANLIB REIT Rent Coll A/C – Signature

Signature International
Limited

391,958

416,980

1,500,000

1,500,000

169,032,508

133,122,833

STANLIB REIT Rent Coll A/C - Bay Holdings Bay Holdings Limited
Total
23. LEASES
Leases as lessor
Operating lease

The REIT leases out its investment property. The REIT has classified these leases as operating leases,
because they do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the
assets.
Contractual rental income recognised by the REIT during the year ended 31 December 2019 was KShs.
267,423,832 (2018: KShs. 239,056,944).
The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments, showing the undiscounted lease
payments to be received after the reporting date.
Operating leases under IFRS 16

Less than one year
One to two years

2019
KShs
264,462,486
279,052,615

Two to three years

266,768,036

Three to four years

163,873,003

Four to five years

50,389,674

More than five years

33,743,845

Total

1,058,289,659
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23. LEASES (Continued)
Operating leases under IFRS 16 (Continued)
2018
KShs
Less than one year

239,898,433

One to two years

284,634,507

Two to three years

234,533,663

Three to four years

242,632,382

Four to five years

146,667,303

More than five years
Total

49,832,732
1,198,199,020

24. RISK MANAGEMENT
(a) Risk governance structures, roles and responsibilities
The Board of Directors of the REIT Manager is primarily responsible for ensuring the REIT’s activities are
within the adopted risk management framework of the REIT.
(b) Financial risk management
The REIT’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
REIT’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on its financial performance, but the REIT does not hedge
any risks.
Financial risk management is carried out under policies approved by the REIT Manager.
(i) Market risk
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk arises from assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency. There were no
foreign currency denominated balances as at 31 December 2019.
Price risk
The REIT does not hold any financial instruments subject to price risk.
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The REIT holds interest accruing financial assets and is thus exposed to interest rate risk. The REIT
invested in call and fixed deposits as well as treasury bills during the year under review. These investments
generated a combined weighted average fixed interest rate of 8.6% in the current year (2018: 8.8%).
Sensitivity analysis
During the year, if the interest rate at that date had been 1% lower/higher, with all other variables held
constant, net profit for the year would have been KShs. 249,963 (2018: KShs. 564,339) lower/higher,
arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest income on cash deposits at banks.
The REIT Manager manages interest rate risks by monitoring interest rates on a regular basis. There were
no borrowings or loans outstanding during the year under review which attracted interest exposure to
the entity.
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24. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(i) Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk
The REIT is exposed to currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch between the currencies in
which sales and purchases are denominated and the functional currency of the REIT and the subsidiaries.
The functional currency of the REIT and its subsidiaries is Kenyan Shillings. The currencies in which these
transactions are primarily denominated are Kenyan Shillings and US dollars. As at end of the current
reporting period, the REIT had no exposure to foreign denominated assets or liabilities (2018: Nil).
(ii) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and
cause the REIT to incur a financial loss.
The REIT is exposed to credit risk on its financial assets, i.e. trade and other receivables and cash. The
risk of tenant default is managed through conducting tenant credit worthiness checks and the collection
and maintenance of security deposits prior to tenants taking occupation.
Where the recoverability of receivables is doubtful, a provision for doubtful debts is raised, and where
it is certain that a receivable is not collectible, it is impaired, in both cases, net of security deposits held.
Cash is invested with financial institutions with a good quality credit record.
The gross amount that best represents the REIT’s maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December is
made up as follows:
2019
KShs

2018
KShs

Trade receivables (Note 16)

31,556,505

18,520,713

Service charge debtors (Note 16)

16,330,081

14,251,866

8,095,152

7,608,816

238,925,753

83,809,515

96,000,321

302,818,929

390,907,812

427,009,839

Sundry debtors (Note 16)
Investment securities (Note 15)
Cash and cash equivalents less cash in hand (Note 17)

Collateral is held in respect of trade receivables comprising tenant security deposits.
Debtors ageing
At 31 December 2019, the ageing of the trade receivables was as follows:
2019
KShs

2018
KShs

Neither past due or impaired

2,153,731

828,056

Past due 1 – 30 days

2,318,832

858,871

Past due 31 – 90 days

23,893,719

12,287,894

Past due 91 – 120 days

3,190,223

4,545,892

31,556,505

18,520,713
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24. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(ii) Credit risk (Continued)
The REIT’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer,
the demographics of the REIT’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country
in which customers operate. The REIT has established a credit policy under which each new customer
is analysed individually for credit worthiness acceptance. The REIT has a debt provisioning policy that
represents its estimate of expected losses in respect of trade and other receivables.
Collateral in the form of cash deposits totalling KShs. 51,085,213 and bank guarantees is held in respect
of the trade receivables as at 31 December 2019.
The REIT utilizes the Moody’s probability of default factor for the retail industry of 7% to determine the
expected credit losses. Where the expected credit loss is higher, a specific provision greater than the 7%
is applied as applicable.
The REIT Manager believes that the unimpaired amounts outstanding for longer than 30 days are
still collectible in full based on the extensive analysis of tenant credit risk and payment behaviours of
tenants. The REIT Manager further believes that adequate provisions have been raised against tenant
debtors considered doubtful.
Movement in provision for doubtful debts
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables during the
period was as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the period
Movement in provision for bad debts (Note 8)
Write offs during the year
Balance at 31 December (Note 16)

2019
KShs

2018
KShs

3,477,170

10,231,039

122,941

1,078,246

(212,860)

(7,832,115)

3,387,251

3,477,170

During the year under review, bad debts for outstanding rent arrears of KShs. 212,860 were written off, net
of security deposits appropriated (2018: KShs. 7,832,115).
(iii) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the REIT, although solvent is not able to meet its payment obligations as
they fall due (funding liquidity risk), or is only able to do so at materially disadvantageous terms (market
liquidity risk).
Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash balances, and the availability of
funding from an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the REIT’s liquidity reserves on the basis of expected cash
flow.
Below is the outline of the REIT’s current liabilities:
Less than one year
KShs
As at 31 December 2019:
Trade payables and accrued expenses (Note 20)

115,006,176

As at 31 December 2018:
Trade payables and accrued expenses (Note 20)

128,677,648
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
24. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c) Fair value hierarchy
(i) Determination of fair value
The REIT has not disclosed the fair values of short term financial assets and short term financial liabilities
since their fair values approximate to the carrying amounts as shown in the statement of financial position.
(ii) Valuation hierarchy
The valuation hierarchy, and types of instruments classified into each level within that hierarchy, is set out
below:
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Fair value determined
using:

Unadjusted quoted
Valuation models with
prices in an active market directly or indirectly
for identical assets and
market observable inputs
liabilities

Types of financial
assets:

Actively traded
government and other
agency securities

Corporate and other
government bonds and
loans

Listed derivative
instruments

Over-the-counter (OTC)
derivatives

Listed equities
Types of financial
liabilities:

Listed derivative
instruments

Over-the-counter (OTC)
derivatives

Valuation models using
significant
non-market observable
inputs
Corporate bonds in
illiquid markets
Highly structured
OTC derivatives
with unobservable
parameters
Highly structured
OTC derivatives
with unobservable
parameters

The table below shows the classification of non-financial assets held at fair value into the valuation
hierarchy set out below as at 31 December.
2019
in KShs
Assets
Investment property
Total assets

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

-

- 3,456,600,000 3,456,600,000
- 3,456,600,000 3,456,600,000

Investment property

-

-

3,365,700,000

3,365,700,000

Asset held for sale
Total assets

-

-

40,000,000
3,405,700,000

40,000,000
3,405,700,000

2018
in KShs
Assets
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24. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c) Fair value hierarchy
(ii) Valuation hierarchy
Details of changes in valuation techniques
There have been no changes in the valuation techniques during the period under review. Investment
property was fair valued using the discounted cash flow and cost approaches. Refer to Note 11 to the
financial statements.
25. CAPITAL COMMITMENT
The REIT had the following capital commitments in respect of building projects authorised and
contracted but not yet paid:
2019
KShs

2018
KShs

-

26,412,595

10,754,765
10,754,765

26,412,595

Cinema project
Security improvement equipment

26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2019, the REIT had no significant contingent liabilities (2018: None).
27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The following are ‘non-adjusting’ events that occurred after the reporting period:
Declaration of a distribution
In line with IAS 10, Events after the Reporting Period, the declaration of the KShs. 135,729,225 distribution
in relation to the 2019 financial year occurred after the end of the reporting period, resulting in a nonadjusting event that is not recognised in the financial statements. Refer to Note 18 to the financial
statements for the distribution declared.
Change of REIT Manager
The CMA has approved the resignation of STANLIB Kenya Limited as the REIT Manager for the STANLIB
Fahari I-REIT and the appointment of ICEA LION Asset Management Limited (“ILAM”) as the replacement
REIT Manager in accordance with the REITs Regulations. The unitholders will be notified of the effective
date in due course.
Coronavirus pandemic
Kenya, like the rest of the world, has been affected by the coronavirus pandemic that has led to the
government of Kenya instituting several measures aimed at curbing the spread of the virus through social/
physical distancing and increased hygiene. These measures include:
• Closure of all learning institutions;
• Encouragement of all workers to work from home where possible;
• Suspension of all international flights except for cargo flights;
• Closure of all bars with restaurants allowed to operate on a take-away basis;
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27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued)
Coronavirus pandemic (Continued)
• Banning of all public gatherings of more than 15 persons;
• National curfew from 19h00 pm to 5h00 am;
• Ordering of only essential services to continue operating including medical professionals, national
security, public health and sanitization, licensed pharmacies and drug stores, media houses, Kenya
Power & Lighting Company (“KPLC”), supermarkets, food dealers, petroleum distributors, financial
institutions, telecommunication operators, fire brigade and licensed security firms.
As a result of the measures taken as detailed above, the REIT’s business has been significantly disrupted
with some tenants whose businesses do not form part of essential services, having had to temporarily
cease operations. As at the date of this report, it is not yet known how long the pandemic will last and when
normal business operations will resume. Due to the enormous pressure the lockdown measures have on
the economy, it is expected that the lockdown period will not be for an unduly long period of time. The
government has issued guidelines to landlords on how to treat tenants who have suffered financial loss
and are finding it difficult to meet their rental obligations as a result of this pandemic. Landlords including
the REIT have received requests for rental rebates from adversely affected tenants. As at the date of this
report, no final decision had been made on these requests.
Other than the above, there are no other subsequent events.
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GLOSSARY

Term or abbreviation

Meaning

“the Act”

means The Capital Markets Act, Chapter 485A of the Laws of Kenya,
(Amended by Act No. 48 of 2013);

“AGM”

means Annual General Meeting;

“CBD”

means central business district;

“CDSC”

means Central Depository and Settlement Corporation Limited;

“CED”

means Civil Engineering Design (K) Ltd;

“CGU”

means Cash-Generating Unit;

“CMA” or “Capital Markets
Authority” or “Authority”

means the Capital Markets Authority in Kenya established by
statute (and includes any successor thereto (whether immediate or
derivative));

“Co-op Bank”

means The Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited;

“Eligible Assets”

means the eligible real estate and/or eligible cash investments that the
STANLIB Fahari Property Income Fund is permitted to invest in;

“FVOCI”

means fair value through other comprehensive income;

“FVTPL”

means fair value through profit or loss;

“GLA”

means gross lettable area, being the total area of a building that can be
let to a tenant. GLA comprises primary GLA plus supplementary areas
which include for example, storerooms, balconies, terraces, patios
and signage/advertising areas dedicated for the use by the tenant
and exclude basements and parking. Unless otherwise noted, any
reference within the report to m² is based on GLA;

“IFRS”

means the International Financial Reporting Standards;

“ILAM”

means ICEA LION Asset Management Limited;

“Independent Property Valuers” means the independent property valuers of the I-REIT, as appointed
or “Valuer”
from time to time on a 3-year cycle or in line with the independence
rules per the Regulations;
“I-REIT”
means Income REIT;
“KRA”

Means Kenya Revenue Authority;

“LDK”

means LDK Africa Limited;

“Legal Advisor”

means the legal advisor to the REIT, being Mboya Wangong’u and
Waiyaki Advocates;

“LLP”

means Limited Liability Partnership;

“m²” or “sqm”

means square metres;

“MER”

means the management expense ratio as defined in the REITs
Regulations;
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GLOSSARY (CONTINUED)
Term or abbreviation

Meaning

“NAV”

means net asset value, being the value of all the STANLIB Fahari I-REIT’s
assets after subtracting the value of all of its liabilities as determined
in accordance with the consolidated financial statements of STANLIB
Fahari I-REIT;

“NSE”

means Nairobi Securities Exchange Limited, approved as a securities
exchange under the Act;

“Registrar”

means the registrar of REIT securities in relation to STANLIB Fahari
I-REIT, being CDSC Registrars Limited;

“REIT”

means Real Estate Investment Trust, an unincorporated common law
trust that has been authorised as such by the CMA;

“REIT Manager”

means STANLIB Kenya;

“REITs Regulations”

means the Capital Markets (Real Estate Investment Trusts) (Collective
Investment Schemes) Regulations, 2013 as may be amended or
modified from time to time;

“REIT Trustee” or “Trustee”

means the Co-operative Bank or Co-op Bank of Kenya Limited;

“SKL”

means STANLIB Kenya Limited;

“SME’s”

means Small and Medium Enterprises;

“SPV”

means special purpose vehicle;

“sq.ft.”

means square foot or square feet;

“STANLIB Kenya”

means STANLIB Kenya Limited, Certificate of Incorporation number
C.9522;

“Subsidiary” or “Subsidiaries”

means a subsidiary or the subsidiaries of the STANLIB Fahari I-REIT
property fund, being an entity or entities owned more than 50% by the
REIT Trustee on behalf of the REIT;

“TAV”

means total asset value, being the value of all the STANLIB Fahari I-REIT
assets prior to any adjustments or deduction of liabilities;

“Technical Engineer”

means one or both of the technical engineers being, Civil Engineering
Design (K) Ltd and/or LDK Africa Limited;

“Trust Deed”

means the trust deed between STANLIB Kenya and Co-op Bank
establishing the STANLIB Fahari I-REIT property fund as an Income
Real Estate Investment Trust Scheme, 30 September 2015;

“Unitholder(s)” or “REIT
Unitholder(s)” or “Securities
holder”

means any person including the Promoter, who has purchased
or otherwise acquired (including through the exchange, or in
consideration of any transfer, of Property) and holds any Units and is
registered in the Register as evidence that he holds the units;

“VAT”

means value-added tax as defined in the Value-Added Tax Act, 2013,
as amended;

“ZAR”

means South African Rand.

100

|

STANLIB FAHARI I-REIT ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

NOTES
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

STANLIB FAHARI I-REIT ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

|

101

NOTES
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

2019

